
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 9 October 2018

Executive
Wednesday 17 October 2018, 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 
2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

5. Members' Announcements  

Page 1



6. Award of Contract for Waste, Recycling, Street Cleansing and Grounds 
Maintenance Services  (Pages 9 - 88)

7. Cockermouth Sports Facilities Improvement  (Pages 89 - 152)

8. Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Policy  (Pages 153 - 178)

Deputy Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 21 November 2018, 10.00 am
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Monday 3 September 2018 at 6.00 pm

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Staff Present

B Carlin, I Frost, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, C Nicholson, A Seekings and 
S Sewell

143. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

144. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

145. Questions 

None received.

146. Members' Announcements 

None received.

147. Q1 Finance Report April to June 2018 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Financial Services submitted a report which sought to inform 
Members on the Council’s financial performance against budget for the period 
April to June 2018 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2019.

Members noted the headline messages at the end of quarter 1 2018/19, being:

Revenue Budget
 Expenditure from the revenue budget, excluding projects funded 

from earmarked reserves, was forecast to exceed budget by 
£91k 

 This projected outturn position would result in an additional  
contribution from the Council’s General Fund of £91k

Earmarked Reserves Budget
 Following publication of the 2017-18 outturn position, the 

budgeted use of Reserves had been increased to reflect the 
profiling of expenditure presented as part of that report 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 There was no variance projected against this updated budget
Capital Budget

 Expenditure from the capital budget was forecast to underspend 
by £10.2million

 The forecast underspend would be matched by a corresponding 
reprofiling of expenditure to subsequent financial years, 
leaving no remaining variance 

Treasury Management
 Treasury management activities during the quarter were carried 

out in accordance with the Council’s treasury management 
and investment strategies and within the limits established by 
the approved treasury and prudential indicators for 2018-19

 No new external borrowing was undertaken during the three 
months ending 30 June.

Paragraph 6.8 of the report, Councillor M Fryer requested that Executive 
members be provided with an update on the Helena Thompson Museum.

Councillor B Cannon moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor W Jefferson. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered:

None

The reason for the decision:

To inform Members on the Council’s financial performance against budget for 
the period April to June 2018 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2019.

The decision:

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

148. Q1 Performance Report 2018/19 

The subject of the decision

The Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) submitted a 
report which sought to advise members on the Council’s performance at the 
end of Quarter 1 2018/19 as measured by projects/activities and Key 
Performance Indicators set out in the Corporate Business Plan 2018/19.

The Council was on track with 72 of its 87 key projects/activities, 12 areas were 
being watched and 3 key projects/activities had been completed in Q1.

There were 51 Key Performance Indicators. 29 of those were on target, 12 were 
within agreed tolerance of target and 5 were significantly worse than target.

Members noted the report.

Page 4



Councillor A Smith moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

None

The reason for the decision

To advise Members of the Council’s performance at the end of Quarter 1 
2018/19.

The decision

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

149. Local Plan (part 2) - Presubmission Draft 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance submitted a report which sought 
member’s approval to publish the pre-submission draft of the Local Plan (part 2) 
for a final six week period prior to submission to the Secretary of State for public 
examination.

Members expressed their thanks to all of the team involved in the work in 
producing the draft policy.  

Councillor A Smith moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

A detailed options assessment had been carried out across all sites and policies 
before arriving at the pre-submission draft of the Local Plan (part 2). An options 
consultation was undertaken in 2017.

The reason for the decision

To seek approval to publish the pre-submission draft of the Local Plan (part 2) 
for a final six week period prior to submission to the Secretary of State for public 
examination.

The decision

Recommended – That Council be requested to agree that:

Page 5



1. The Presubmission draft of the Local Plan (part 2), including 
amendments to the affordable housing (3.1) and tourism (7.1) policies, 
as set out in appendix 1 of this report, be approved for publication

2. The Policies Maps, as set out in appendix 2 of this report, be approved 
for publication

3. Following the completion of a six week period for representations the 
Local Plan (part 2) be submitted to the Minister for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government for an Examination in Public.

150. Reedlands Business Park 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought to provide 
clarification on the terms and conditions on the final grant agreement for the 
£1.5 million European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant to develop 
23,500 sq. feet, (2,183 sq. metres) of industrial workspace at Reedlands 
Business Park, Clay Flats in Workington, previously accepted by the Executive 
on 24 January 2018.

Members were informed that the ERDF funding for the project had been 
secured under the Local Infrastructure State Aid Scheme, approved by the 
European Commission under Article 56 of the General Block Exemptions 
Regulation (GBER). 

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor B Cannon. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

1. Accept the offer of grant funding and proceed with the scheme. This 
would necessitate the submission of a change request to the Ministry for 
Housing Communities and Local Government.

2. Decline the offer of grant funding and do not proceed with the scheme.

The reason for the decision

On the 24 January 2018 Members of the Executive approved the acceptance of 
a £1.5 million European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant to develop 
23,500 sq. feet, (2,183 sq. metres) of industrial workspace at Reedlands 
Business Park, Clay Flats in Workington. Members also approved the £1 million 
match-funding requirement to be met from prudential borrowing.  

Following receipt of the final grant agreement clarification has been sought on a 
number of points relating to the terms and conditions of the award. This report 
updates Executive on the financial implications of these clarifications and in 
particular on the operation of the clawback provision which could result in the 
repayment of part of the funding in the event that the authority makes excess 
profit from the project.

Page 6



The decision

Resolved

That:

1. The £1.5m offer of European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant 
funding and associated match-funding requirement to enable the project 
to proceed be accepted

2. A change request be submitted to the Ministry of Housing Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG) to amend the profiled project spend 
and associated funding draw-down to bring this in line with the latest 
project programme.

The Chairman moved - 

“That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they may involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.”

151. Social Infrastructure Investment Fund Business Support Investment 
Proposal 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance submitted a report which sought 
members to amend the previously agreed distribution of funds in the Social 
Infrastructure Investment Fund (SIIF) to enable consideration of a loan 
investment proposal for MPM North West Ltd.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to endorse the proposed course of action.

The reason for the decision

To amend the previously agreed distribution of funds in the Social Infrastructure 
Investment Fund (SIIF) to enable consideration of a loan investment proposal 
for MPM North West Ltd.

The decision

Resolved

That the recommendations in the report be approved.

Page 7



152. Future Options for Workington Town Centre - Update Report 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought members to 
note work being undertaken to explore future commercial opportunities for 
Workington Town Centre in accordance with the Capital Investment Strategy 
and the Councils priority of ‘Enhancing our Towns’ and to endorse the proposed 
course of action.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to endorse the proposed course of action.

The reason for the decision

To update members on the work that had been undertaken.

The decision

Resolved:

That the report be noted and the proposed course of action be endorsed.

The meeting closed at 7.00 pm

Page 8



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 17 October 2018

Award of Contract for Waste, Recycling,
Street Cleansing and Grounds Maintenance Services

The Reason for the Decision The following contracts are due to expire on 
31 March 2019:

 Waste and recycling collection and street 
cleansing services (FCC Environment);

 Grounds maintenance services (Tivoli); 
and

 Bulking, hauling, sorting and reprocessing 
of dry recyclables and green waste 
(Cumbria Waste Management).

A commissioning process was conducted 
which resulted in the procurement of the 
following contracts:

 Lot 1 - Waste and recycling collection 
services;

 Lot 2 - Street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance services; and

 Lot 3 - Bulking, hauling, sorting and 
reprocessing of dry recyclables and green 
waste.

The contracts have been procured on the 
basis of an initial period of eight (8) years (1 
April 2019 to 31 March 2027) with the option 
to extend by a further eight (8) years (1 April 
2027 to 31 March 2035).

In line with the Council’s financial 
regulations, the decision to award the 
contract must be made by the Executive after 
consideration of the information within this 
report and the supporting documents.

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Summary of options considered The options available to Members are:

 Not to award the contracts, and seek to 
re-procure;

 Not to award the contracts and provide an 
in-house service; or

 To award the contracts to the highest 
scoring Tenderers.

Recommendations It is recommended that Members award:
1. Tenderer B the Contract for the provision 

of waste and recycling collection services 
on behalf of the Council with an 
estimated contract value of £24,766k 
over the initial 8-year contract term;

2. Tenderer C the Contract for the provision 
of street cleansing and grounds 
maintenances services on behalf of the 
Council with an estimated contract value 
of £13,039k over the initial 8-year 
contract term; and

3. Tenderer A the Contract for the provision 
of bulking, hauling, sorting and 
reprocessing services for dry recyclables 
and green waste on behalf of the Council 
with an estimated contract value of 
£2,636k over the initial 8-year contract 
term.

4. Each contract shall be awarded for an 
initial period of eight (8) years (1 April 
2019 to 31 March 2027) with the option 
to extend by a further eight (8) years (1 
April 2027 to 31 March 2035).

5. Any non-service related amendments to 
these proposals are delegated to the 
Head of Community Services in 
consultation with the Head of Finance 
and the Portfolio Holder for 
Environmental Quality.  

Page 10



Financial/resource implications This procurement has been structured to 
provide the Council with:

 Service levels that maintain customer 
satisfaction levels;

 Affordability savings of £323k in year 1 

 Reductions in the amount of growth in 
contract costs, as a result of wage 
growth, fuel price increases and general 
inflation, when compared with the current 
budget (similarly adjusted for pay and 
price increases) of £4,907k over the initial 
contract term;

 Optimum risk partition between the 
Council and the Contractor; and

 Value for money

 A total of £490k is forecasted to be spent 
on external advisory services up until 
contract award. This includes specialist 
technical, financial and legal advice 
required to support the procurement 
exercise. 

Legal / Governance Implications Procurement processes must comply with 
the European procurement rules and the 
Treaty obligations of transparency, equality 
of treatment and non-discrimination as well 
as the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.
As the value of this contract is above the 
current European threshold (£164,176)1 the 
Public (Contracts) Regulations 2015 do 
apply.
The procurement exercise has been 
undertaken in line with Council’s financial 
regulations and all relevant legislation.  The 
Contract entered into by the Council and the 
Contractor shall set out the legal obligations 
of the Council and the Contractor.

1 Threshold for public services contract procurement procedures commencing 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017

Page 11



Community Safety Implications The Contractor shall be responsible for the 
safe operation of the grounds maintenance 
services they provide within the borough for 
the duration of the contract.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

As above.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Due consideration has been given to the 
impact that the procurement of the 
Contractor will have on those groups with 
protected characteristics as set out in the 
Equality Act 2010.  No disproportionate 
impact is anticipated.  Equality Impact 
Assessment is attached at Appendix 3.

Wards Affected All Wards

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

Strengthening our Economy
Enhancing our Towns
Improving Health and Well-Being
Creating a Sustainable Business

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Michael Heaslip

Lead Officer Charles Holmes, Head of Community 
Services, Charles.Holmes@allerdale.gov.uk

 

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y

Page 12

mailto:Charles.Holmes@allerdale.gov.uk


1 Outline

1.1 This report provides the background and context to the commissioning process 
undertaken and summarises key stages in the development and delivery of the 
strategy for the procurement of waste, recycling, street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance services, comprising:

1.1.1 Background to the project;

1.1.2 Commissioning of services;

1.1.3 Contract Notice;

1.1.4 Selection stage;

1.1.5 Detailed solution stage;

1.1.6 Refined solution stage;

1.1.7 Close of dialogue and call for final tenders;

1.1.8 Award timetable;

1.1.9 Services delivered as locally as possible;

1.1.10 Finance/resource implications;

1.1.11 Legal implications and risks;

1.1.12 Summary of options considered and;

1.1.13 Recommendations.

2 Background

2.1 In 2003, Allerdale Borough Council (the Council) awarded FCC Environment Ltd 
(FCC) a service partnering contract (Contract A) for waste and recycling 
collections and street cleansing services.  Contract A commenced on 1 April 
2003 for an initial period of 10 years (the Term) and stated that [the Term was] 
“extendable by mutual agreement between the Partners” subject to clause 13 
(Continuous Improvement and Performance Reviews) and clause 15 
(Termination).  In November 2012, Contract A was extended by mutual 
agreement from 31 March 2013 to 31 March 2019.

2.2 In December 2014, the Council awarded Cumbria Waste Management Ltd 
(CWM) a service contract (Contract B) for reprocessing of green waste.

Page 13



2.3 In August 2015, the Council awarded Cumbria Waste Management Ltd (CWM) 
a service contract (Contract C) for the bulking, haulage, sorting and 
reprocessing of dry recyclables.

2.4 In February 2016, the Council awarded ISS a service contract (Contract D) for 
grounds maintenance and other associated works for a 3-year period from 1 
April 2016 until 31 March 2019.

2.5 Contracts A, B, C and D each expire on 31st March 2019 unless terminated at 
an earlier date in accordance with the provisions in the contract.  There is no 
option to extend any of these contracts beyond 31 March 2019.

3 Commissioning of services

3.1 The Council has a commercial focus and is committed to the delivery of high 
quality, sustainable services to the people and businesses of the area.  We take 
a commissioning approach in delivering the key services that are important to 
our communities.

3.2 The commissioning of waste and recycling, street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance services was undertaken as follows:

3.2.1 High level review of the current services design and performance;

3.2.2 Identification of potential interventions and their likely impact on 
service quality and cost;

3.2.3 Preliminary market consultation of potential service delivery models 
with potential service providers and other Councils; and

3.2.4 Recommendations as to the service design and delivery model that is 
most likely to meet the Council's quality and affordability criteria from 1 
April 2019 onwards.

3.3 The review of waste and recycling services was undertaken from June 2016 to 
October 2016, providing an in-depth appraisal of the current waste collection 
and recycling services.  A similar review was conducted on street cleansing 
services from January 2017 to April 2017.

3.4 Preliminary market consultations were undertaken in March 2017 to inform the 
development of the Outline Business Case for each of the services.  This 
included consultation with:

3.4.1 Contracting Authorities that operate a range of service delivery 
models; and

Page 14



3.4.2 Economic operators that deliver waste and recycling collection, street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance services to other contracting 
authorities.

3.5 At a meeting of the Executive held on Wednesday 10 May 2017, the Head of 
Community Services submitted a report which sought Members to approve the 
procurement of performance-based services for waste and recycling collection, 
recycling processing, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services all of 
which would commence on 1 April 2019.

3.6 Several service delivery options had been considered including:

3.6.1 Option 1 – Contractor (outsourced);

3.6.2 Option 2 – Direct delivery (in-house);

3.6.3 Option 3 – LA trading company (service);

3.6.4 Option 4 – LA trading company (commercial);

3.6.5 Option 5 – Shared service (public-public); and

3.6.6 Option 6 – Shared service (public-private).

3.7 The report set out contractor services (Option 1) as the preferred service 
delivery model.  Members noted that, if the report was approved, it was possible 
the preferred option could change prior to the procurement of a service.

3.8 The Executive resolved that:

3.8.1 The report and results of the service delivery model option appraisal 
exercise be approved; and

3.8.2 The procurement of performance-based services (Option 1 – 
Contractor) for waste and recycling collection, recycling processing, 
street cleansing and grounds maintenance services, all of which would 
commence on 1 April 2019, be approved.

4 Contract Notice

4.1 Allerdale Borough Council (the "Council") published a Contract Notice (OJEU 
Contract Ref No: 2017/S 147-304482) in the Official Journal of the European 
Union on 03 August 2017 inviting expressions of interest from Potential 
Suppliers that would like to participate in the Project.

4.2 The Contract Notice was divided into three (3) Lots as follows:

Page 15



4.2.1 Lot 1 - Waste and recycling collection services;

4.2.2 Lot 2 - Street cleansing and grounds maintenance services; and

4.2.3 Lot 3 - Bulking, hauling, sorting and reprocessing of dry recyclables 
and green waste.

5 Selection stage

5.1 Any Potential Supplier that registered an expression of interest via the Chest 
(the NW local authority procurement portal) received a Selection Questionnaire 
(SQ).  All SQs that were completed and submitted by the published deadline 
were evaluated in accordance with the evaluation methodology published in the 
SQ.  The Project Board approved the list of Potential Suppliers to be Invited to 
Participate in Dialogue (ITPD) for each Lot.

6 Invitation to Participate in Dialogue

6.1 The Invitation to Participate in Dialogue (ITPD) was issued by the Council in 
connection with a competitive procurement conducted in accordance with the 
Competitive Dialogue Procedure under Regulation 30 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015.

7 Detailed Solutions Stage

7.1 The Council issued an Invitation to Submit Detailed Solutions (ISDS) to 
Participants that set out further details of the Detailed Solution Submission and 
the Evaluation Methodology to be applied to select the Detailed Solution 
Submission and Participants for the Refined Solution Stage of the Competitive 
Dialogue.

7.2 The Council held dialogue meetings with Participants over a 4-week period 
(19/02/18 to 16/03/18) to engage on their Solutions to facilitate the preparation 
of Detailed Solution Submissions that meet the Council's Requirements.

7.3 Participants submitted their Detailed Solution Submission on Friday 13 April 
2018, which were subsequently evaluated by the Council in accordance with the 
Evaluation Methodology published in the ISDS.

8 Refined Solutions Stage

8.1 During Refined Solution Stage, further dialogue was conducted with each 
Participant with the aim of refining, adjusting and improving the Detailed 
Solution Submission.

8.2 The Council requested that Participants submitted a Draft Final Tender before 
the close of dialogue to assist the Council in determining whether there was one 

Page 16



or more Solution for each Lot capable of meeting the Council's requirements 
before the Council closed dialogue and issued the Call for Final Tenders.

9 Close of dialogue and Call for Final Tenders (CFT)

9.1 The Council closed dialogue and issued the CFT on 30 July 2018.  The 
submission deadline for Final Tenders was midday on Monday 10 September 
2018.

9.2 The Council has evaluated the Final Tenders in accordance with the Evaluation 
Methodology published in the CFT, the full results of which are provided in Part 
2 to this report.

10 Lot 1 Final Tender Submission Evaluation

10.1 The Lot 1 Final Tender Submission Score is provided in Table 1 below:

Table 1 (Lot 1 Final Tender Submission Score)

Criteria Tenderer B

Quality and deliverability 27.60

Business risk 5.00

Net Present Cost (“NPC”) 50.00

Lot 1 Final Tender Submission Score 82.60

10.2 It is recommended that Tenderer B is awarded Lot 1 as they are the highest 
scoring tenderer.

11 Key features of the highest scoring Lot 1 tender

11.1 A reliable, sustainable, high quality waste and recycling collection service.

11.2 The core collection service design shall feature:

11.2.1 Residual waste collected every week;

11.2.2 Commingled recyclables (i.e. glass, cans and plastic) collected every 2 
weeks using a 120-litre wheeled bin (wherever reasonably practicable) 
replacing single use purple sacks;

11.2.3 Paper and card collected every 4 weeks using a larger 240 litre 
wheeled bin (wherever reasonably practicable).  The existing 120-litre 
wheeled bin shall be reassigned for the collection of commingled 
recyclables (see paragraph 11.2.2 above); and

Page 17



11.2.4 Garden waste collected every 2 weeks.

11.3 Contractor is committed to pay the Foundation Living Wage to all employees 
engaged in the provision of the services.

11.4 Introduction of an enhanced, integrated IT system including the use of in-cab 
technology to report exceptions and service changes in real-time to multiple 
users, including the Council.

11.5 Cost-effective, robust services which utilise the optimum number and range of 
resources.

11.6 A more environmentally sustainable collection service including the use of Euro 
VI vehicles and efficient routing to reduce vehicular emissions.

11.7 Enhanced social value in the local community from the outset, providing local 
jobs for local people and providing a service which is inclusive of people from all 
backgrounds and communities across Allerdale.

11.8 Automatic reverse braking and 360° cameras on the vehicle fleet will deliver a 
step change in Health and Safety.

11.9 Enhanced bulky waste and reuse service which delivers social value to a local 
third-sector enterprise, as well as maximising landfill diversion on the service.

11.10 An effective, tried and tested communications campaign, bespoke for Allerdale 
and its residents.

12 Lot 2 Final Tender Submission Evaluation

12.1 The Lot 2 Final Tender Submission Scores are provided in Table 2 below:

Table 2 (Lot 2 Final Tender Submission Scores)

Criteria Tenderer B Tenderer C

Quality and deliverability 28.00 24.00

Business risk 5.00 8.00

Net Present Cost (“NPC”) 39.68 50.00

Lot 2 Final Tender Submission Score 72.68 82.00

12.2 It is recommended that Tenderer C is awarded Lot 2 as they are the highest 
scoring tenderer.

Page 18



13 Key features of the highest scoring Lot 2 tender

13.1 A holistic, flexible, sustainable and continuously improving street cleansing and 
grounds maintenance service to enhance the environment of the Borough.

13.2 An integrated street scene service combining street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance to meet or exceed the Council’s service requirements.

13.3 A safe, integrated street cleansing and grounds maintenance service with multi-
skilled teams which bring together experience and expertise within an 
innovative delivery model.

13.4 A daily street cleansing schedule with a staggered shift pattern to provide a 
street cleansing capability across the Zones between 0530 and 1830 hours 
featuring:

13.4.1 Early shift teams shall focus on Zone 1 areas and ensure that they are 
cleaned to Grade A standard by 0800 hours;

13.4.2 Morning to mid-afternoon shift teams shall also focus on Zone 1 areas 
but will then clean the Zone 2 and 3 areas;

13.4.3 Late shift team shall provide a cleansing service in the late afternoon 
and early evening to clean Zone 1 areas at the end of the working and 
shopping day when there is likely to be litter;

13.4.4 Multi-skilled teams shall undertake both street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance duties.  Tasks such as clearing litter and detritus are 
combined with dealing with weeds and maintaining flower beds, 
hedges and shrubs, so contributing to an enhanced street scene 
without duplicating resources under separate service lines; and

13.4.5 A rapid response capability shall be provided by a mobile team able to 
deal with street scene issues quickly.

13.4.6 Contractor is committed to pay the Foundation Living Wage to all 
employees engaged in the provision of the services. 

13.5 Deployment of a range of pedestrian, street and road sweepers to ensure 
routes are kept clean.

13.6 Provision of a grounds maintenance capability to ensure that the grounds 
across the Borough are delivered to a high standard.

13.7 Provision of specialist services, which include maintaining:

13.7.1 Cemeteries and preparing Graves;

Page 19



13.7.2 Trees; and

13.7.3 Sports Pitches.

13.8 Integrated Service Management System (ISMS) solution shall incorporate a 
digital infrastructure with four enhanced benefits:

13.8.1 Workforce Scheduling;

13.8.2 Mobile Job Management;

13.8.3 Reporting; and

13.8.4 Analytics.

14 Lot 3 Final Tender Submission Evaluation

14.1 The Lot 3 Final Tender Submission Score is provided in Table 3 below:

Table 3 (Lot 3 Final Tender Submission Score)

Criteria Tenderer A

Quality and deliverability 20.25

Business risk 8.00

Net Present Cost (“NPC”) 60.00

Lot 3 Final Tender Submission Score 88.25

14.2 It is recommended that Tenderer A is awarded Lot 3 as they are the highest 
scoring tenderer.

15 Key features of highest scoring Lot 3 tender

15.1 Materials shall be delivered to the Waste Delivery Point for bulking up prior to 
onward transport for processing.  Other than the fibre (card and paper) which 
will be baled and dispatched direct to the off taker, all other material will be 
transferred to the Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) or the Composting Facility 
both of which are located in Cumbria.  All materials will be bulked up and a 
significant proportion will be processed within Cumbria, thus supporting the 
local economy.

15.2 Waste Delivery Point:

15.2.1 Capacity to handle 120 kTe p.a.;

15.2.2 Environmental permit; and

Page 20



15.2.3 Flexibility to store/bale materials.

15.3 Material Recovery Facility (MRF):

15.3.1 Economies of scale;

15.3.2 Capacity to handle 70 kTe p.a.;

15.3.3 Environmental permit; and

15.3.4 Flexibility sort/store/bale materials.

15.4 Composting Facility:

15.4.1 PAS100:2011 accredited;

15.4.2 Peat free compost product produced;

15.4.3 Product sold to retail market; and

15.4.4 Capacity to compost 75 kTe p.a.

15.5 Following receipt at the Waste Delivery Point (unless taken directly to the MRF 
or Composting Facility instead), the materials shall be transferred as follows:

15.5.1 Paper and cardboard - will either be dispatched directly to the re-
processor as a loose mixed material or baled depending on the 
markets;

15.5.2 Mixed colour glass bottles and jars - will be dispatched directly to the 
re-processor;

15.5.3 Mixed plastic bottles, yogurt pots, margarine tubs, food trays - will 
either be dispatched direct or transferred to the MRF for further 
processing;

15.5.4 Mixed steel food cans and aluminium drink cans - will be transferred to 
the MRF for further processing;

15.5.5 Commingled material - consisting of i) mixed colour glass bottles and 
jars ii) mixed plastic bottles, yogurt pots, margarine tubs, food trays; 
and iii) mixed steel food cans and aluminium drink cans will be 
transferred to the MRF for processing; and

15.5.6 Garden waste - dispatched to the Composting Facility for processing.

15.6 Tenderer A’s relevant capabilities:

Page 21



15.6.1 Transparency in material pricing;

15.6.2 Fast turnaround times of vehicles delivering to sites;

15.6.3 Secure outlets/offtakers despite changing markets;

15.6.4 Flexibility to adapt to changing customer requirements;

15.6.5 Bank holiday & weekend availability when required;

15.6.6 Accredited quality, H&S and environmental management systems;

15.6.7 Strong H&S management and culture;

15.6.8 Environmental compliance;

15.6.9 Full audit trails; and

15.6.10 Provision of accurate data and reports.

15.7 The key aspects of performance are as follows:

15.7.1 Fast vehicle turnaround times on site with new twin weighbridge being 
constructed;

15.7.2 Close to 100% recycling, with energy recovery for any non-recyclable 
contamination;

15.7.3 Sustainable product outlets, proven over the past 25 years of 
recycling;

15.7.4 Local, accessible senior management team;

15.7.5 PAS 100 accredited compost sold into retail market;

15.7.6 OHSAS 18001 accredited H&S system;

15.7.7 ISO 14001 accredited environmental management system;

15.7.8 ISO 9001 accredited quality management system; and

15.7.9 Clean compliance record.

Page 22



16 Award timetable

16.1 Table 4 below contains key dates for the project programme:

Table 4 (Timetable)
Date Milestone
17 October 2018 Contract award decision

17 October 2018 Award decision notifications issued electronically
Standstill period commences

29 October 2018 Standstill period concludes
5 November 2018 Contract award
5 November 2018 Contract mobilisation begins
1 April 2019 Contract commencement date

17 Services delivered as locally as possible

17.1 The services shall be operated from the following locations:

17.1.1 Lot 1 – Waste and recycling collection services shall be operated from 
Solway House, Moss Bay Road, Workington, CA14 3XH;

17.1.2 Lot 2 – Street cleansing and grounds maintenance services shall be 
operated from Solway House, Moss Bay Road, Workington, CA14 
3XH; and

17.1.3 Lot 3 – Bulking, hauling, sorting and reprocessing services shall be 
operated from sites within the borough and the county.

Page 23



18 Finance/resource implications

18.1 Expenditure on the waste, recycling, street cleaning and ground maintenance 
contracts represents a significant portion of the Council’s revenue budget.  In 
2018/19 forecast expenditure on these services of £5,440k represents around 
40% of the Council’s total net revenue budget.

18.2 An estimate of the budgetary impact of submitted tenders over the initial 8-year 
contract term is set out in Table 5 below.  This analysis shows across all three 
Lots, a potential budget saving in year one of £323k coupled with net annual 
growth of between £64k and £146k in year’s two to eight.  Further details 
relating to the budgetary impact of individual lots are provided in Appendix 1.

Table 5 – Estimated budgetary impact of over the initial contract term
Contract

year
Combined
Net ASC +
inflation1

Finance
costs
(Lot 1)

Total
cost

Annual
Budget
Growth/

(Savings)

Other
Related
Growth/

(Savings)

Total
Budget

(Saving)/
Growth

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Current budget 5,440 70 -

1 2019/20 4,563 568 5,131 (309) (14) (323)
2 2020/21 4,696 555 5,251 120 (56) 64
3 2021/22 4,833 543 5,376 125 - 125
4 2022/23 4,973 530 5,503 127 - 127
5 2023/24 5,117 518 5,635 132 - 132
6 2024/25 5,266 506 5,772 137 - 137
7 2025/26 5,418 493 5,911 139 - 139
8 2026/27 5,575 482 6,057 146  - 146

40,441 4,195 44,636 617 (70) 547
1net of income from the sale of recyclable material

Combined annual service charge (ASC)

18.3 Based on the prices submitted by the preferred bidders the combined annual 
service charges for year one of the contracts is £4,563k.  This comprises:

18.3.1 Lot 1: £2,788k;

18.3.2 Lot 2: £1,497k (including estimated cost of a performance bond); and

18.3.3 Lot 3: £278k (£597k expenditure less estimated income from sale of 
recyclable material of £319k).

18.4 Under the proposed contracts the annual service charge is uplifted each year 
using prescribed indices to reflect wage growth, fuel price increases and 
general inflation (measured by the Consumer Price Index).  The expected 

Page 24



increase in the combined annual service charge as a result of indexation is 
outlined in Table 6 below.

18.5 Based on current assumptions, indexation is expected to add between £133k 
and £157k to the annual service charge each year.  Over the initial 8-year 
contract term the cumulative impact of indexation is estimated at £3,900k.

18.6 For Lot 3 the costs for the bulking, hauling, sorting and reprocessing activities 
are based on the waste flow model tonnages for Lot 1 and the tendered rates 
submitted by the preferred bidder for Lot 3.

Income from recyclables

18.7 Income from the sale of recyclables (minus disposal of MRF rejects) is based 
on the following assumptions:

18.7.1 Lot 1 waste flow model provided by the preferred bidder for Lot 1;

18.7.2 MRF compositional analysis (Sep-17); and

18.7.3 Lot 3 tendered rates (indexed using Letsrecycle mid-point values for 
Jun-18) submitted by the preferred bidder for Lot 3.

18.8 It should however be noted that the volatility in market prices for recyclable 
materials makes accurate forecasting of this income stream inherently difficult.  
A fall in market prices for recyclable materials, below the levels assumed, would 
impact adversely on the income the Council receives from recyclable materials. 
This would, in turn, increase the net annual cost of recycling activities included 
in Lot 3 and the combined annual service charge shown in Table 5 and Table 6.

18.9 Given the volatility in prices for recyclable materials and the absence of any 
clear relationship between these prices and general measures of inflation, 
indexation has not been applied in calculating the forward projections for 
expected income from recyclables.

Table 6 – Impact on indexation on Annual Service Charges
Contract

year
Combined

ASC
(year 1)

Annual
Indexation

uplift

Cumulative
indexation

ASC incl.
cumulative
indexation

Income
from

recyclables

Combined
Net ASC

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1 2019/20 4,882 - (319) 4,563
2 2020/21 4,882 133 133 5,015 (319) 4,696
3 2021/22 4,882 137 270 5,152 (319) 4,833
4 2022/23 4,882 140 410 5,292 (319) 4,973
5 2023/24 4,882 144 554 5,436 (319) 5,117
6 2024/25 4,882 149 703 5,585 (319) 5,266
7 2025/26 4,882 152 855 5,737 (319) 5,418
8 2026/27 4,882 157 1012 5,894 (319) 5,575

39,056 1,012 3,937 42,993 (2,552) 40,441

Page 25



Finance costs (Lot 1)

18.10 To take advantage of the lower borrowing costs available to the Council in 
comparison with the Tenderer’s own cost of capital (4.5%), the tendered price 
for Lot 1 is based on the Council funding the acquisition of vehicles to be used 
in the provision of services under Lot 1 and for the wheeled bins related to the 
implementation of four-weekly paper and card collections (also Lot 1).

18.11 Work carried out at the Draft Final Tender stage indicated the use of prudential 
borrowing by the Council to fund the vehicle acquisition offered no clear 
financial benefit in year one of the contract.  However, over the initial 8-year 
contract term, the year on year reductions in the annual service charge 
generated from the use of Council borrowing to fund the vehicle acquisition 
would generate savings of over £700k.

18.12 Finance costs included in Table 5 comprise interest costs (at 2.6% to 2.7%) and 
MRP (the amount that must be set aside from revenue each year to repay 
borrowing) associated with the additional PWLB borrowing required to fund the 
acquisition of the vehicles and wheeled bins.  Finance costs are based on total 
vehicle acquisition costs of £3,171k and wheeled bin acquisition costs of £720k.

18.13 Interest costs have been estimated based on interest rate forecasts provided by 
the Council’s Treasury advisors.  However, interest rates charged by the PWLB 
remain volatile and subject to change.  Whilst the estimates of finance costs 
include an allowance to accommodate this continuing volatility it should 
nevertheless be noted that the actual interest rate payable by the Council will 
not be confirmed until the funds are drawn down.

18.14 The MRP charge is calculated in line with the Council's MRP policy and MHCLG 
guidance on MRP.  Interest costs are based on a borrowing term of 8-years for 
vehicles and 10-years for wheeled bins.  Loan repayments will be made on an 
equal instalment of principal basis over the borrowing term.

Annual budget growth/savings

18.15 The annual budget growth /savings in Table 5 comprise:

18.15.1 £309k in respect of the net budget reduction between the current 
budget for Lots 1, 2 and 3 of £5,440k and the expected year one 
annual service charge and finance costs of £5,131k;

18.15.2 The annual indexation uplift to reflect price inflation, wage growth and 
changes fuel costs; and

18.15.3 An annual reduction in finance costs reflecting the reduction interest 
costs as loan principal is repaid.

Page 26



Other savings

18.16 Other savings/growth comprise:

18.16.1 Budget reduction of £70k from year one to reflect withdrawal of the 
Purple Bag scheme following roll out of the new recycling 
arrangements; and

18.16.2 Less one-off costs in year one for the distribution of new recycling bins 
(£40k) and acquisition of recycling containers (£16k).

Comparison with indexed current budget

18.17 The forecasts included in Table 5 show that over the initial 8-year contract term 
the total contract costs are £44,636k including indexation.

18.18 This compares with a current (unindexed) budget for Lots 1, 2 and 3 of  
£43,520k over the initial 8-year contract term. However, if the current budget is 
indexed to reflect pay and price increases at the same rate, the year eight 
budget would be £49,543k.  Therefore, providing a saving of £4,907k over the 
initial 8-year contract term compared with the current, indexed budget.

Procurement costs

18.19 Although parts of the contract have been subject to a competitive tendering 
exercise in recent years, this is the first time in over 15 years that waste and 
recycling collection services or street cleansing services have been out to 
tender.

18.20 Specialist technical, financial and legal advice have been procured to ensure the 
Council achieves a compliant and value for money service and the outcomes for 
residents for are achieved.  A total of £490k is forecasted to be spent on external 
advisory services up until contract award.  This represents approximately 9% of 
the 2018/19 budget for Lots 1, 2 and 3 of £5,440k and around 1.2% of the  
projected contract costs over the initial 8-year contract term of £40,441k.

19 Legal implications and risks

19.1 Procurement processes must comply with the European procurement rules and 
the Treaty obligations of transparency, equality of treatment and non-
discrimination as well as the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.  As the value 
of this contract is above the current European threshold (£164,176)2 the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 do apply.

2 Threshold for public services contract procurement procedures commencing 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017

Page 27



19.2 The procurement exercise has been undertaken in line with Council’s financial 
regulations and all relevant legislation.  The Agreement entered into by the 
Council and the Contractor shall set out the legal obligations of the Council and 
the Contractor in relation to the operation of any market on behalf of the 
Council.

19.3 The need for flexibility in the contract is also of key consideration, as the future 
of waste and recycling is being heavily debated across the industry and in 
central government.  Ideas put forward by government to increase recycling and 
create consistency for the customer means that over the lifetime of an 8+8 year 
contract, there could be statutory duty changes as well as policy changes.  The 
Services Agreement allows for this flexibility going forward.

19.4 In making the decision to award the contracts, the Council reserves the right to 
further explore opportunities to refine and develop the services delivered, with a 
view to the provision of additional efficiencies and/ or service improvements. 
These service changes could be driven through either local need or national 
government policy and the Services Agreement allows for these opportunities to 
be fully explored and adopted throughout the term of the contract.

19.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee ran a task and finish group to follow the 
process of letting the contracts. The group gained an understanding of the 
processes involved, both in terms of the functional processes involved in 
dealing with the waste and recycling, and in the development of the process of 
bidders making their submissions.

19.6 The group then produced a report which was submitted to and approved by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 17 September 2018 (please refer to 
Appendix 2).

19.7 There are a number of key risks associated with the mobilisation period leading 
up to the contract commencement followed by a number of risks associated 
with the contract delivery through the initial 8-year term.  These are:

19.7.1 Procurement and commissioning of the vehicle fleet to deliver the 
requirements of the service.  This shall be mitigated through securing 
the delivery of the fleet through the Contractor;

19.7.2 The introduction of a modified recycling scheme for residents.  This 
shall be mitigated through a detailed communications plan including 
the provision of “pop-up” shops to explain and work-through with 
residents;

19.7.3 Change in government legislation providing a change in which the 
services are to be delivered, i.e. changes the way in which recycling is 

Page 28



undertaken.  This shall be mitigated through the Services Agreement 
which includes the provision for service redesign.

19.7.4 The sales values of recyclates collected is volatile and will continue to 
fluctuate.  We shall seek to mitigate this through forecast modelling 
based on detailed knowledge of sector trends and market analysis.

20 Summary of options considered

20.1 Not to award the contracts, and seek to re-procure.  This option would 
necessitate additional procurement costs and not guarantee the provision of a 
better or more cost effective service than the recommended option proposed.

20.2 Not to award the contracts and provide an in-house service.  This option is not 
preferred as Allerdale is structured as a commissioning council and has a 
number of years’ experience of delivering high-quality services through well 
managed contract arrangements. Furthermore this option was considered 
previously by the Executive as outlined above in s.3.5 – 3.8.

21 Benefits of recommended option

21.1 In awarding the contracts to the highest scoring tenderers, the Council shall:

21.1.1 Deliver the continuation of a weekly residual waste collection service; 
the continued collection of Commingled Recyclables (i.e. glass, cans, 
and plastics) every fortnight whilst ceasing the use of the none-
recyclable purple bag; the collection of mixed paper and card every 4 
weeks; and the fortnightly collection of green garden waste;

21.1.2 Deliver an integrated street cleansing and grounds maintenance 
service provided by multi-skilled teams to enhance the environment of 
the Borough.  Tasks such as clearing litter and detritus are combined 
with dealing with weeds and maintaining flower beds, hedges and 
shrubs, so contributing to an enhanced street scene without 
duplicating resources under separate service lines; and

21.1.3 Appoint an experienced recycling company that shall provide the 
Council with a quality bulking, hauling and reprocessing capability, 
with transparency of materials pricing, provision of accurate data and 
reports and secure outlets/ offtakers for the sale of recyclates collected 
and reprocessed.

22 Recommendations

22.1 It is recommended that Members award:

Page 29



22.1.1 Tenderer B the Contract for the provision of waste and recycling 
collection services on behalf of the Council with an estimated contract 
value of £24,766k over the initial 8-year contract term;

22.1.2 Tenderer C the Contract for the provision of street cleansing and 
grounds maintenances services on behalf of the Council with an 
estimated contract value of £13,039k over the initial 8-year contract 
term; and

22.1.3 Tenderer A the Contract for the provision of bulking, hauling, sorting 
and reprocessing services for dry recyclables and green waste on 
behalf of the Council with an estimated contract value of £2,636k over 
the initial 8-year contract term.

22.1.4 Each contract shall be awarded for an initial period of eight (8) years 
(1 April 2019 to 31 March 2027) with the option to extend by a further 
eight (8) years (1 April 2027 to 31 March 2035).

22.1.5 Any non-service related amendments to these proposals are 
delegated to the Head of Community Services in consultation with the 
Head of Finance and the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Quality.  

Charles Holmes
Head of Community Services

Page 30



Appendix 1

Estimated impact on revenue budget over initial contract term combined impact of Lots 1, 2 and 3

 Contract year  
 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27  
 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Annual Service Charge (ASC) 4,523 4,523 4,655 4,791 4,930 5,073 5,221 5,372 39,088

Estimated Indexation for inflation 0 133 137 140 144 148 152 157 1,012
ASC plus indexation 4,563 4,696 4,833 4,973 5,117 5,266 5,418 5,575 40,441

Authority Finance costs:
Vehicles 477 466 456 445 435 425 414 404 3,522
Recycling Bins 91 89 87 85 83 81 79 78 673
Total Finance costs 568 555 543 530 518 506 493 482 4,195

Total Authority Costs (contract plus finance costs) 5,131 5,251 5,376 5,503 5,635 5,772 5,911 6,057 44,636

Current budget 2018/19 5,440         
Impact on MTFP -year on year  growth/(saving) (309) 120 125 127 132 136 139 146 617
MTFP - budget growth/(saving) cumulative (309) (189) (64) 63 195 332 471 617  

Other costs/savings 
Purple Bag - savings (TBC) (70) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (70)
Distribution of recycling bins (TBC) 40 (40) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Acquisition of recycling containers (TBC) 16 (16) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bin replacements (TBC) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(14) (56) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (70)
Total MTFP savings/growth
MTFP -year on year  growth/(saving) (323) 64 125 127 132 136 139 146 547

MTFP - budget growth/(saving) cumulative (323) (259) (134) (7) 125 262 401 547

P
age 31



Appendix 1

             

 Contract year  
 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27  
 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Comparison with indexed current budget           

Total Authority contract and finance costs 5,131 5,251 5,376 5,503 5,635 5,772 5,911 6,057 44,636

Indexed current budget – (contract only) 5,597 5,758 5,923 6,094 6,268 6,448 6,633 6,823 49,543

(Saving)/additional cost compared to indexed current budget (466) (507) (548) (590) (633) (676) (722) (766) (4,907)

Other costs/(savings) (14) (56) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (70)

Total additional cost/(saving) (480) (563) (548) (590) (633) (676) (722) (766) (4,977)
             

P
age 32



Appendix 1

Lot 1: Estimated impact on revenue budget over initial contract term

   Contract year  
   2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27  
   1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Total 
   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Annual Service Charge (ASC) 2,788 2,788 2,871 2,956 3,044 3,134 3,228 3,323 24,132
Estimated Indexation for inflation 0 83 85 88 90 93 96 99 634
Household Growth – additional costs1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
ASC plus indexation 2,788 2,871 2,956 3,044 3,134 3,228 3,323 3,422 24,766

Authority Finance costs:
Vehicles 477 466 456 445 435 425 414 404 3,522
Recycling Bins 91 89 87 85 83 81 79 78 673
Total Finance costs 568 555 543 530 518 506 493 482 4,195

Total Authority Costs 3,356 3,426 3,499 3,574 3,652 3,734 3,816 3,904 28,961

Current budget 2018/19 3,388         

Impact on MTFP - year on year  growth /(saving) (32) 70 73 75 78 81 83 88 516

Budget growth/(saving) cumulative (32) 38 111 186 264 346 428 516  
            

Comparison with indexed current budget          

Indexed contract costs plus finance costs 3,356 3,426 3,499 3,574 3,652 3,734 3,816 3,904 28,961

Indexed current budget 3,489 3,592 3,699 3,809 3,922 4,039 4,159 4,282 30,991

(Saving)/additional cost compared to indexed 
current budget

(133) (166) (200) (235) (270) (305) (342) (378) (2,029)

            

P
age 33



Appendix 1

1 Forecasts shown do not include any additional costs associated with household growth other than that explicitly allowed for in the financial models submitted by the preferred 
bidder. 
Lot 2: Estimated impact on revenue budget over initial contract term

   Contract year 
   2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27  
   1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Total 
   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Annual Service Charge (ASC) 1,457 1,457 1,492 1,528 1,565 1,603 1,642 1,681 12,425
Bond Cost 40 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 341

1,497 1,497 1,533 1,570 1,608 1,647 1,687 1,727 12,767
Estimated Indexation for inflation 0 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 272
ASC plus indexation 1,497 1,533 1,570 1,608 1,647 1,687 1,727 1,769 13,039

Authority Finance costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Authority Costs 1,497 1,533 1,570 1,608 1,647 1,687 1,727 1,769 13,039

Current budget 2018/19 1,815         

Impact on MTFP -year on year  
growth/(saving) (318) 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 (46)

MTFP - budget growth/(saving) cumulative (318) (282) (245) (207) (168) (128) (88) (46)  
            

Comparison with indexed current budget          

Indexed contract costs  (ASC plus indexation) 1,497 1,533 1,570 1,608 1,647 1,687 1,727 1,769 13,039

Indexed current budget 1,859 1,904 1,950 1,997 2,045 2,094 2,145 2,197 16,190

P
age 34



Appendix 1

(Saving)/additional cost compared to indexed 
current budget

(362) (371) (380) (389) (398) (408) (418) (428) (3,152)

            

Lot 3: Estimated impact on revenue budget over initial contract term

   Contract year  
   2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27  
   1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Total 
   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure 597 597 611 625 640 655 671 686 5,082
Estimated Indexation for inflation  0 14 14 15 15 15 16 16 105

597 611 625 640 655 671 686 702 5,188
Income from sale of recyclables (319) (319) (319) (319) (319) (319) (319) (319) (2,552)

Net ASC plus indexation 278 292 306 321 336 352 367 383 2,636

Authority Finance Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Authority Costs 278 292 306 321 336 352 367 383 2,636

Current budget 2018/19 237         

Impact on MTFP -year on year  growth/(saving) 41 14 14 15 15 15 16 16 146

MTFP - budget growth/(saving) cumulative 41 55 69 84 99 115 130 146  

            
Comparison with indexed current budget          

Indexed contract costs (ASC plus indexation) 278 292 306 321 336 352 367 383 2,636

P
age 35



Appendix 1

Indexed current budget 249 262 275 288 301 315 329 344 2,363

(Saving)/additional cost compared to indexed current 
budget 29 30 32 33 35 36 38 40 273

            

P
age 36



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 1

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

Report of the 
Community Services Business Model

Task and Finish Group

September 2018

Appendix 2

Page 37



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2

1. Introduction 

Introduction

The Council’s contracts for waste and recycling, street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance services, are due to end on 31 March 2019. 

The Community Services Business Model Task and Finish Group (the Group) was 
established to provide feedback on the process to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, thereby supporting the Committee to make any appropriate 
recommendations to the Project Board and, or, Executive. 

Task and Finish Group Membership 

The following Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members were selected for the 
Group:

 Cllr M Grainger (chair)
 Cllr H Harrington
 Cllr B Miskelly
 Cllr B Pegram

From the wider membership the following Councillors volunteered to join the Group:

 Cllr R Munby

Terms of Reference

Terms of Reference are used to guide and focus the Group and support the delivery 
of priorities. The following Terms of Reference were agreed:

 Consider and scrutinise the processes involved in awarding the new 
contract

 Identify what is currently being done by the Council to ensure the 
needs of all residents are considered in the new contract arrangements

 Identify what is currently being done by the Council to ensure the new 
contract will deliver the expected level of service and deliver the 
anticipated savings

 Make recommendations for improvements to the process

Page 38



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3

2. Background

Background to the Community Services Business Model

At the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 21 April 2017, the Head of 
Community Services submitted a report to provide members with the results of the 
service delivery model option appraisal exercise for the procurement of performance 
based services including waste and recycling, street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance services, all of which would commence on 01 April 2019.  The Interim 
Waste and Recycling Officer provided members with a presentation setting out the 
key criteria for the most appropriate service delivery model, being implementation 
and supply chain, flexibility and synergy, control and responsiveness, risk partition, 
commercial opportunity and affordability target savings of £1m from 2019/20 on 
£5.986m.

A commissioning approach had been adopted for the identification and selection of 
potential service delivery model, including:
 

Option 1 – Contractor (outsourced)
Option 2 – Direct delivery (in-house)
Option 3 – LA trading company (service)
Option 4 – LA trading company (commercial)
Option 5 – Shared service (public-public)
Option 6 – Shared service (public-private)

At the Executive meeting on 10 May 2017, it was agreed that:
 

The procurement of performance based services (Option 1 – Contractor) 
for waste and recycling collection, recycling processing, street cleansing 
and grounds maintenance services, all of which would commence on 1 
April 2019, be approved.

Since the approval of the report, further work completed includes: 

Stakeholder consultation: a stakeholder consultation exercise to inform the 
development and selection of proposed service 
interventions, which inform the development of 
the service specification.

Appraisal of Interventions: an option appraisal exercise to rank each 
proposed service intervention using a range of 
evaluation criteria that are weighted according to 
their relative importance.

OJEU Contract Notice: in August 2017 the Council published an OJEU 
Contract Notice (Official Journal of the European 
Union) inviting potential bidders for the contract 
to register their interest before late August 2017.

The new contract documentation has been issued in three Lots:

Page 39



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 4

 Lot 1: Waste and Recycling Collection Services;

 Lot 2: Street Cleansing and Grounds Maintenance Services; and

 Lot 3: Bulking, Hauling, Sorting and Reprocessing of Recyclables and Green 
Waste.

Bidders were able to apply to deliver one or more Lots. 

Page 40



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 5

3. Work undertaken in this review

Research

To build their understanding of the processes involved in sorting and reprocessing 
Recyclables, Garden Waste and Residual Waste, the Group undertook a visit to the 
Hespin Wood site, which included a series of presentations and tours of different 
parts of the site.

The first presentation, from Cumbria County Council, explained the principles of 
waste management for the County and provided some background data. This data 
indicated that the county produces the equivalent of 485kgs of waste per person per 
annum.

The County Council owns the Hespin Wood site, and ultimately the mechanical 
biological treatment plant (MBT) situated there, though this is currently operated by 
Renewi, the name adopted as a result of a merger between Shanks and a partner 
operating on mainland Europe.

The issues around the levels of waste created are largely related to public 
understanding of what happens to that waste and why it is important to have it 
correctly sorted prior to collection.

It was suggested that generally people believe their domestic waste goes to landfill 
and only the Recyclables (i.e. i) paper & card; and ii) glass, cans and plastic) and 
Garden Waste we put out for collection are actually recycled. What actually happens 
to our domestic waste is more complex, which ultimately means that only a small 
percentage of domestic waste now goes to landfill.

What actually happens to our domestic waste was the subject of two further 
presentations and tours of the site. The waste collected from the black household 
bins all goes to the plant operated by Renewi where it is sifted via conveyor belts 
and ends up in a large concrete 'vat'. A large crane then grabs sections of this waste 
and puts it through a set of rollers which cut ('minces') the waste into small pieces. 
The main change undertaken by the incoming waste is that it goes through a 
process of drying where moisture is removed.

The resulting products are used in two ways - one grade is used as a fuel for the 
cement making industry, the other is used as a fuel for electricity generation. The 
resulting recycling material consisting of cans and glass which is generally quite low 
quality is sent to markets.

The recycling regularly collected from Allerdale residents all goes to a separate plant 
also at Hespin Wood, operated by Cumbria Waste Management (CWM). This plant 
takes all the paper and card, glass, cans, and plastics and processes them ready to 
go for recycling, with most of its products now going to other operators in this country 
rather than overseas.

Garden waste also goes to this site, which is processed in compost materials in a 
separate area, operated in conjunction with A. W. Jenkinson Ltd.

Page 41



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 6

Dry separated recycling materials arriving at the CWM plant and separated at source 
are normally easily handled, in other words before arriving at the plant. The purple 
bags currently used in Allerdale are particularly problematic in this process and as a 
result lead to a loss of recyclable materials and therefore income from the waste.

What happens currently is that householders put the products into the purple bags, 
including glass and cans which break and snag on the bags, which in turn means 
that when sent for recycling the products are contaminated and rejected by the 
receiving processors. The machinery at Hespin Wood can sift plastic from metal and 
steel from aluminium, however the snagged and ripped purple bags need to be 
processed and removed by hand, and because there are shards of glass and metal 
caught up in the ripped plastic it is then classed as waste, which ultimately both 
increases the cost and loses income.

Arising from this visit, it seemed there are two main areas of concern and potential 
action: the first is around increasing public awareness of what happens to domestic 
waste and why it needs to be properly sorted – examples were given in the 
presentations about used car parts being found in domestic waste bins which then 
stop the machines and require human intervention to clear them: clearly a health and 
safety concern and a delay to the process. The second is the sorting of recyclable 
waste which remains both an issue of increasing public awareness around the 
reasons and need to do this, and a logistical issue until an appropriate collection 
solution is found, which is part of the new contracting process. 

The Council has recently run trials for possible alternatives to the purple bags to 
create savings. While an option was preferred for recommendation to the Executive 
for implementation, the decision was to put this on hold for discussion with potential 
contractors as they may have a preference or alternative collection method. The 
considered option would have required an outlay to provide households with new 
recycling collecting boxes; this would essentially be a 'speculate to accumulate' cost. 

Points noted in addition to the presentation included:

 The Council has a contract with Cumbria Waste Management (CWM) until 31 
March 2019 for the bulking, hauling, sorting and reprocessing of Recyclables 
and Green Waste; and

 Income from the sale of recyclables is calculated monthly using tonnage data 
and indexed tendered rates (indexed using publicly available indices for 
average national material values).

There was some discussion about the potential for local area communal collection 
points, rather than individual household collections. Some already operate in 
Allerdale, for example at Stair in the Newlands Valley and at Rosley. One of the 
future considerations could be to explore whether more communal collection points 
could be established as this would make the process easier and save money.

Page 42



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 7

Overview of the procurement process

Contract Notice

Allerdale Borough Council (the “Authority”) published a Contract Notice (OJEU 
Contract Ref No: 2017/S 147-304482) in the Official Journal of the European Union 
on 03 August 2017 inviting expressions of interest from Potential Suppliers that 
would like to participate in the Project.

The Contract Notice was divided into three (3) Lots as follows:

 Lot 1 – Waste and recycling collection services;
 Lot 2 – Street cleansing and grounds maintenance services; and
 Lot 3 – Bulking, hauling, sorting and reprocessing of dry recyclables and 

green waste.

Selection stage

Any Potential Supplier that registered an expression of interest via the Chest (the 
NW local authority procurement portal) received a Selection Questionnaire (SQ).  All 
SQs that were completed and submitted by the published deadline were evaluated in 
accordance with the evaluation methodology published in the SQ.  The Project 
Board approved the list of Potential Suppliers to be Invited to Participate in Dialogue 
(ITPD) for each Lot.

Invitation to Participant in Dialogue

The Invitation to Participate in Dialogue (ITPD) was issued by the Authority in 
connection with a competitive procurement conducted in accordance with the 
Competitive Dialogue Procedure under Regulation 30 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015.

Detailed Solutions Stage

The Authority issued an Invitation to Submit Detailed Solutions (ISDS) to Participants 
that set out further details of the Detailed Solution Submission and the Evaluation 
Methodology to be applied to select the Detailed Solution Submission and 
Participants for the Refined Solution Stage of the Competitive Dialogue.

The Authority held dialogue meetings with Participants over a 4-week period 
(19/02/18 to 16/03/18) to engage on their Solutions to facilitate the preparation of 
Detailed Solution Submissions that meet the Authority’s Requirements.

Participants submitted their Detailed Solution Submission on Friday 13 April 2018, 
which were subsequently evaluated by the Authority in accordance with the 
Evaluation Methodology published in the ISDS.

Refined Solutions Stage

Page 43



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 8

During Refined Solution Stage, further dialogue was conducted with each Participant 
with the aim of refining, adjusting and improving the Detailed Solution Submission.

The Authority requested that Participants submitted a Draft Final Tender before the 
close of dialogue to assist the Authority in determining whether there was one or 
more Solution for each Lot capable of meeting the Authority’s requirements before 
the Authority closed dialogue and issued the Call for Final Tenders.

Close of dialogue and Call for Final Tenders (CFT)

The Authority closed dialogue and issued the CFT on 30 July 2018.  Participants are 
due to submit Final Tenders by midday on Monday 10 September 2018.  The 
Authority shall evaluate Final Tenders in accordance with the Evaluation 
Methodology published in the CFT.

Topics considered by the Group in relation to Lot 1 services

Lot 1 – household residual waste collections

The Group were interested to know if there had been any work done to explore what 
level of savings could be achieved by moving from weekly to fortnightly collection of 
household residual waste.  The Head of Community Services confirmed this work 
had been done and the estimated savings were predicted to be between £200,000 
and £450,000 per annum.

There was support from a number of Group members for household residual waste 
collections to move to a fortnightly timetable, however the Head of Community 
Services outlined that the approach was to encourage Participants to maintain the 
current collection frequency for household residual waste (i.e. weekly).

The Group considered a suggestion might be for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to advise the Executive that, in the opinion of Councillors on the Task 
and Finish Group and the Committee, the public would accept fortnightly collection of 
residual household waste in preference to further rises in Council Tax.

The Head of Community Services explained that a change from weekly to fortnightly 
collections for residual household waste may necessitate the following changes:

 Provide a larger wheeled bin for household residual waste; and
 Use the existing household residual waste bin to collect commingled 

recyclables (e.g. glass, cans and plastics) instead of the purple bag;

Lot 1 - Household Garden Waste Collections

Concerns raised by Councillors relating to charging (and not charging) for garden 
waste collections including:

 That not all Council Tax payers have or create garden waste;
 Rural residents being disadvantaged by having to pay for garden waste 

collection as the gardens tend to be larger in rural properties;

Page 44



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 9

 How charges would be introduced – would the existing bins be 
collected in from households?

 The potential loss of income from garden waste. Charging for the 
collection of Garden Waste is an option available to the Council in 
structuring the service going forward.

Lot 1 – Household Recycling Collections

The Head of Community Services gave the Group an overview of the recycling trials. 
These trials tested different methods of sorting and collecting recyclable materials in 
specific geographical areas of the borough.

While a majority of people in the tests liked the current method of collection, one of 
the trials achieved the same level of popularity and achieved a better result for 
amount of recyclable material.  The basis for the proposed recycling service was 
also explained.  Members’ view was that education is a major aspect of making the 
Council's contracts work effectively, for example encouraging householders to 
squash large plastic bottles.

One of the proposals under consideration would be to remove the 'bring bank' sites, 
however Councillors representing rural areas reported that these are well used by 
rural residents, and were opposed to this proposal.  Due to geographic limitations it 
is unlikely there can ever be 100% coverage for household recycling collection, 
hence the bring bank sites being maintained for the foreseeable future.

Paper tonnages broadly in decline when compared to previous years, despite 
a significant increase in values per tonne throughout July and August of this 
year the £’s per tonne has been generally lower than we’d hope.

Glass tonnages broadly in decline when compared to previous years, values 
per tonne throughout this year has been in line with, or slightly above our 
expectations.

Page 45



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 10

Steel tonnages are up when compared to previous years, but unfortunately 
tonnages linked to steel are quite low, solely due to this stream only forming a 
small part of the waste stream. £’s per tonne values throughout this year has 
been above our expectations.

Aluminium tonnages are up when compared to previous years, but 
unfortunately tonnages linked to aluminium are quite low, solely due to this 
stream only forming a small part of the waste stream. £’s per tonne values 
throughout this year has been way above our expectations.

Plastic tonnages are up when compared to previous years, but unfortunately 
the £’s per tonne values throughout this year are way below our expectations 
a fall in the cost per tonne scenario for the first time in many years.

Page 46



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 11

Commercial waste

When compared with previous year’s performance the sales linked to commercial 
waste services show a year on year improved position.  The estimated end of year 
income for 2017/18 shows and improved position of 14% on 2016/17 and a 21% 
improvement on 2015/16.

The chart below highlights the quarterly income levels from 2015, 2016 and 2017, 
the chart highlights the seasonal peaks and troughs which has an influence on the 
number of collections made.

                 

Topics considered by the Group in relation to Lot 2 services

Street cleansing

The basis for the proposals for street cleansing were outlined and a number of 
suggestions were put forward by members on how the existing and future services 
might be improved.

Concerns were raised about cleanliness in particular areas and there was a 
suggestion of a return to having a street cleaner with a responsibility for a particular 
area.  The Head of Community Services explained that the Services Specification 
adopts an outcome-based approach whereby the Contractor is required to maintain 

Page 47



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 12

cleanliness standards in accordance with the Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse 
(CoPLR).

The issue of seasonal increases in population, particularly around Keswick, were a 
concern in the effect it has on waste and litter.  Contractors will agree to specific 
times to return areas to the required standards in all areas of Allerdale, depending on 
the requirements of the different zones.

Cleanliness around bring-banks was also raised; again this is covered by stronger 
terminology in the new contract requirements. There were also concerns about 
commercial premises using bring-banks, particularly for cardboard disposal. Signage 
ought to make clear 'not for commercial use'.

Questions were asked about how these standards will be enforced: the Council's 
street scene officers will be responsible for monitoring and enforcing adherence to 
the contracts.

Concerns were raised about general road cleanliness, particularly mud on roads and 
detritus on roadways. The new contracts have required times to return areas to the 
specified cleanliness. Mud on the road around farms on rural roads and detritus from 
construction projects are issues which Councillors would need to pursue with the 
County Council. The County Council do provide information about this in a leaflet.

Other concerns

Other aspects of the contracting process and intended levels of service were raised 
and discussed by the Group.  These questions are listed below with the responses in 
italics:

Is the growth in new housing being taken into account with the new contract?

Yes.

Will the imminent boundary changes affect this contract? 

No, as the outer boundary of the borough and therefore the Council's area of 
operation is not due to change.

How long will the contract last?

The initial contract term shall be eight (8) years, with the option to extend for a 
further eight (8) years.

If there were to be a change of administration at future local elections, could the 
contract be subject to change.

The Contracts include a change procedure whereby the Authority has the 
right to propose “Authority Changes”.  In the event that the Authority issues an 
“Authority Notice of Change”, the Contractor shall 

Page 48



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 13

Councillors were concerned what effect Brexit may have on the contract and costs. 

The Head of Community Services reported that this has been considered and 
there may be some effect on vehicle purchase or replacement as these are 
built in Europe.

Are there opportunities to work with entrepreneurs working to recycle waste into 
useable products i.e. the local business using plastics to create road surfacing?

Yes though these are not being pursued as part of the current contracting 
process.

Is the Council regularly discussing recycling issues with neighbouring authorities?

Meetings have been held with neighbouring authorities.

What will be the effect of paying the Living Wage?

Paying the Living Wage does add some cost to the contract, which is being 
built in as it is Council policy and the Portfolio Holder is aware of this.

Was the withdrawal of some Potential Suppliers affected by Allerdale's geographic 
position? 

Potential Suppliers that withdrew prior to ITPD did so for other reasons. There 
was no specific feedback that geography was an issue.

Does the dialogue process enable bidders to influence the outcome? 

As a result of dialogue, the idea of zoning the borough has emerged which 
ought to see an improved service for household waste collection.

The quality is important for the reprocessing of recyclate and affects the price 
received.  Educating householders about the quality and crushing materials 
like plastic bottles will be important.

Through dialogue the suggestion is the Council buys new vehicles required for 
the contracts as the Council can borrow the money at better interest rates 
than any contractor can.

Will the new contract allow for new developments and changes to be adopted, 
especially technological changes?

Yes – the change procedure within the Contract will allow both the Authority 
and the Contractor to propose changes, which may include proposals relating 
to technological changes.

In the view of Councillors, the 'job and knock' arrangement is poor practice and gives 
poor service – will this be stopped? 

Page 49



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 14

This is a concern and not intended to continue. It has been requested this is 
not part of the new contracts and work is underway to phase it out during this 
financial year. 

Who will 'police' the contract? 

The Performance Management Framework sets out the mechanism for 
monitoring the performance of certain of the Contractor's obligations under the 
Agreement, and for determining any resulting adjustment to the Monthly 
Service Payment in accordance with the Payment Mechanism.

The Contractor shall continuously monitor and accurately record its 
performance of the Services against each of the Performance Criteria set out 
in the Performance Management Framework.

The Authority shall be entitled, at its own cost, to undertake its own 
assessment and monitoring in seeking to verify the accuracy of submissions 
made to it by the Contractor in respect of the Performance Management 
Framework.

Can more staff be deployed on enforcement?

A new shift pattern for civil enforcement staff will be introduced from the 
beginning of April with two shifts covering 6am to 8pm. A similar approach is 
being explored for street scene work.

Page 50



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 15

4. Conclusion and recommendations

The Task and Finish Group has followed the process as closely as possible, subject 
to the timetable changes and the commercially sensitive nature of some aspects of 
the process.

The Group is satisfied that the process followed in issuing the documentation and 
running the dialogue sessions has delivered a comprehensive and robust 
procurement for these services. 

The recommendations from the Task and Finish Group are:

1. that the process has delivered a comprehensive and robust 
procurement for these services and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee can commend the process to Executive as delivering a 
robust result;

2. that the Council should ensure that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and its task and finish groups become involved in the 
process of letting the Council’s future major contracts from the point at 
which the need to let or re-let a contract is identified.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



APPENDIX 3

Equality Impact Assessment Form

Section One – Screening

Name of strategy/policy/project:

Household waste and recycling collection

Name and telephone number of officer completing assessment:

Charles Holmes 01900 702 959

1. What is the main aim or purpose of the strategy/policy/project?

The local authority has a statutory duty to collect household waste for both 
recycling and direct disposal.

2. List the main activities or objectives of the strategy/policy/project (for 
strategies list the main policy areas):

To provide cost effective waste and recycling collection services that meet 
the needs of local communities throughout the borough of Allerdale.

3. Who will be the main beneficiaries of the strategy/policy/project and in 
what way?

Please refer to Lot 1 SDP 2 submitted as part of the final tender submission 
on Monday 10 September 2018.

4. Use the table below to indicate:

(a) Where you think that the strategy/policy/project could have a negative 
impact on any of the equality target groups i.e. it could disadvantage them; 
or

(b) Where you think that the strategy/policy/project could have a positive 
impact on any of the groups or contribute to promoting equality, equal 
opportunities or improving relations within equality target groups.

Note that you do not have to complete all the boxes.  Only those where there 
is a disproportionate or greater impact either way.

Positive
impact
it could
benefit

Negative
impact
it could
disadvantage

Reason

Page 53



Positive
impact
it could
benefit

Negative
impact
it could
disadvantage

Reason

Women No No

Men No No

Gender

Trans-gendered 
people

No No

No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
their gender.

Asian or Asian 
British people

No No

Black or black 
British people

No No

People of mixed 
race

No No

Irish people No No
White people No No
Chinese people No No
Gypsies/travellers No No

Race

Other minority 
ethnic 
communities not 
listed above

No No

No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
their race.

Physical No Yes Potential 
manual 
handling 
implications of 
a larger paper 
and card bin 
collected less 
frequently.

Sensory No No
Learning No No

Disability

Mental health No No

No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon a 
sensory, 
learning or 
mental health 

Page 54



Positive
impact
it could
benefit

Negative
impact
it could
disadvantage

Reason

disability.
Sexual 
Orientation

Lesbians, gay 
men and 
bisexuals

No No No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
their sexual 
orientation.

Older people (50 
+)

No NoAge

Younger people 
(17-25), and 
children

No No

No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
their age.

Belief Faith groups No No No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
their belief.

Marriage
and Civil 
Partnership

No No No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
marriage or 

Page 55



Positive
impact
it could
benefit

Negative
impact
it could
disadvantage

Reason

civil 
partnership 
status.

Pregnancy 
and 
Maternity

No No No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
pregnancy or 
maternity 
status.

Rurality No Yes It may not be 
cost effective 
to provide 
kerbside 
collection of 
paper and 
card from all 
households 
within the 
Borough.

Low income 
households

No NoSocio-
economic 
status

Benefit recipients No No

No evidence 
to suggest 
that people 
will have 
different 
needs in 
respect of 
recycling 
services 
based upon 
their socio-
economic 
status.

Page 56



Notes:

Faith groups cover a wide range of groupings, the most common of which are 
Muslims, Buddhists, Jews, Christians, Sikhs, Hindus. Consider faith categories 
individually and collectively when considering positive and negative impacts.

The categories used in the Race section are those used in the 2001 census.  
Consideration should be given to the needs of specific communities within the 
broad categories such as Bangladeshi people and to the needs of other 
communities such as Turkish/Turkish Cypriot, Greek/Greek Cypriot, Italian, 
Lithuanian and Polish that do not appear as separate categories in the census.

5. If you have indicated there is a negative impact on any group, is that 
impact:

Legal YES  NO X

(not discriminatory under anti-discriminatory legislation?  If uncertain see 
guidance notes or contact Policy & Communication Team or Legal Services)

Intended?  YES  NO X

Level of impact HIGH  LOW X

If the negative impact is possibly discriminatory and not intended and/or of high 
impact you must complete section two of this form. If not, complete the rest of 
section one below and consider if completing section two would be helpful in 
making a thorough assessment.

6. a) Could you minimise or remove any negative impact that is of low 
significance and if so how?

The potential negative impact of increased paper bin size and weight on 
people with physical disabilities is mitigated by the provision of an assisted 
collection service.

b) Could you improve the strategy/policy/project’s positive impact and if 
so how?

Not applicable

You may wish to use the action sheet at the end of Section Two.

7. If there is no evidence that the strategy, policy or project promotes 
equality, equal opportunities or improved relations – could it be 
adapted so that it does?  How?

Not applicable

Page 57



8. Do you have data available which monitors the impact of the policy on 
minority groups?  If not, please explain how you intend to continue 
monitoring the impact of this strategy/policy/project:

No

Please send an electronic copy of the final completed form to the Policy 
Improvement Team.

Page 58



Document is Restricted

Page 59

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 17 October 2018

Cockermouth Sports Facilities Improvements 

The Reason for the Decision To continue to work towards improving the 
sporting facilities in Cockermouth, to ensure a 
vibrant sporting community, increasing 
opportunity to participate in sports and physical 
activity, as well as supporting sustainable futures 
for local clubs and groups which has been 
previously agreed.

Summary of options considered  To make a commitment to follow the 
recommendations outlined in the 
Cockermouth Facility Study, in line with the 
Allerdale Leisure Strategy and the 
Allerdale Playing Pitch Strategy.

 Prioritise actions in the report to improve 
sporting facilities within Cockermouth to be 
prioritised in line with existing council 
budget and funding expectations.  

Recommendations That the Executive continue to agree to work 
towards the recommendations highlighted in the 
report to improve sporting facilities within 
Cockermouth. 

Priority actions in the report to improve sporting 
facilities within Cockermouth to be prioritised in 
line with existing council budget and external 
funding opportunities.

Financial /  Resource Implications There are a number of financial implications 
which the Council will work within its own budgets 
and with external funding organisations to carry 
out the improvements proposed within the report. 
An expression of interest has been submitted for 
the Rugby League World Cup Legacy Fund and 
conversations are also taking place with Sport 
England. 

Legal / Governance Implications Procurement and project management to be 
involved at appropriate stages following a 
decision
Leaseholders and clubs in Cockermouth area 
have been consulted and views incorporated into 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



the study. Any negotiation and changes to the 
terms of the council’s commercial tenants 
affected by the improvement works will be 
conducted at the appropriate stages to avoid 
breaches of our duties as a landlord/licensor. 

Community Safety Implications The delivery of the project will have a positive 
impact on Community Safety in the Cockermouth 
area.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The Council will ensure all Health and Safety 
issues and risks are assessed throughout the 
process, either through direct project 
management or via supporting the 
club/organisations to manage it on a daily basis 
through their procedures. 

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The impact of the proposed scheme would be 
neutral across the protected characteristics. 
Users of the new facilities through formalised 
clubs and groups will also operate under their 
Equality and Diversity policies.  

Wards Affected Christchurch, All Saints. 

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Improving health and wellbeing through providing 
access to quality leisure activities. 

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Michael Heaslip

Lead Officer Charles Holmes, Head of Community Services, 
charles.holmes@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty N Health and Safety Y

Page 90



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Council has been approached by a number of organisations in the 
Cockermouth area looking for support to develop sporting facilities, either 
through direct financial assistance or for advice in terms of applying for external 
funding for capital projects.

1.2 The Council has made a commitment in the Allerdale Playing Pitch Strategy to 
the improvement of existing outdoor sports pitches and support facilities 
between 2014 and 2019. 

1.3 A report was commissioned to look at the quality of the sports facilities in 
Cockermouth and also to consult with stakeholders in the town to look at the 
demand and aspirations for the future use of sporting facilities. A list of 
recommendations were then put forward as part of the report. 

2.0 Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 

2.1 The recommendations following the study have taken into account the 
outcomes of the site assessments, consultation with both sports clubs and 
organisations and the Allerdale Playing Pitch Strategy. Some clear and concise 
recommendations for the sports facilities in Cockermouth have been identified 
within the report. In no particular order of priority the following is proposed: 

2.2 Highfield Recreation Ground is developed with key partners and sporting 
groups to accommodate clubs’ needs on the site. This would involve an 
appropriate lease agreement for use of the old squash club building as 
well as the pitch area to develop a multi-sport site. The multi-sport use 
would incorporate a home for Titans Rugby League Club, a base for 
Highfield Football Club, community squash use and a social base for 
Keswick Hockey Club who currently play their home games at 
Cockermouth School but are nomadic in terms of social facilities after 
games. 

2.3 Tarn Close: Cockermouth Junior Football Club is supported in its 
ambitions to develop the facilities at Tarn Close and to initially provide 
changing and toilet facilities; to then improve the quality of its grass 
pitches. 

2.4 Cockermouth RUFC is supported in its development plans to improve 
their facilities as a multi-sport venue. This would entail improving the 
quality of its grass pitches both for its 1st team Rugby and Cockermouth 
Senior Football Club. Cockermouth RUFC are also supported in the 
upgrading of the existing floodlit tennis courts into a floodlit multi-sports 
surface suitable for a range of sports. Reviewing the current governance 
structure (particularly in relation to the Grassmoor Sports Centre) and 
establishing service level agreements between Cockermouth RUFC and 
the key current users of the club facilities and future club use by other 
sports would have to be in place before any funding is committed from 
external sources.

Page 91



2.5 Harris Park tennis courts are upgraded and floodlighting considered to 
allow for future tennis use by Cockermouth Tennis Club and the local 
community and to compensate for the potential loss of the three tennis 
courts at Cockermouth Rugby Union Football Club. To commit to 
initiating an appropriate management process.

2.6 Fairfield Primary School Recreation Field. The development of a small 
changing pavilion on site by the school is supported where possible as 
this would support the development of use by the local athletic based 
clubs, offering a meeting place for activity which is currently ad hoc 
around the town centre and not always fit for purpose.

2.7 Cockermouth Cricket Club is supported in their ambition to develop its 
women and girls offer by developing appropriate changing facilities 
within its clubhouse facilities.

3.0 Club Outcomes

3.1 To establish a series of core outcomes derived from clubs having an 
appropriate pitch and facilities mix, and in doing so jointly benefiting a range of 
clubs. An example outcomes may include:

 Increasing participation. 
 Supporting the development of coaches and volunteers.
 Commitment to quality standards.
 Improvements (where required) to facilities, or as a minimum retaining existing 

standards.

3.2 In addition, clubs should be made fully aware of the associated responsibilities/ 
liabilities when considering leases of multi-use public playing fields.

4.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

4.1 Local contractors and specialists are to be used where possible with any agreed 
development(s). 

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications 

5.1 There are a number of financial implications which the Council will work within 
its own budgets and with external funding organisations to carry out the 
improvements proposed within the report. An expression of interest has been 
submitted for the Rugby League World Cup Legacy Fund and conversations 
are also taking place with Sport England.

5.2 External funding is also being considered through Sport England and the Rugby 
League World Cup Legacy fund, as well as local funders. 

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

Page 92



6.1 No legal implications or risks are foreseen at this point.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That the Executive continue to agree to work towards the recommendations 
highlighted in the report.

7.2 Priority actions in the report to improve sporting facilities within Cockermouth to 
be prioritised in line with existing council budget and external funding 
opportunities.

8.0 Conclusion

8.1 The project provides for improved sports facilities in Cockermouth, therefore 
enhancing the sporting offer for the local area of Cockermouth and 
demonstrates the Council’s commitment in local sport facilities for local 
communities. The development of the Cockermouth pitches meets 2 of the 
Playing Pitch Strategy Aims which listed below. 

 Playing Pitch Strategy AIM 1: To protect the existing supply of sports facilities 
where it is needed for meeting current or future needs.

 Playing Pitch Strategy AIM 2: To enhance outdoor sports facilities through 
improving quality and management of sites.

Charles Holmes
Head of Community Services

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



Cockermouth Sports Facilities 

Scoping Study
Allerdale Borough Council

Final Report - October 18

Page 95



DOCUMENT CONTROL

Amendment History

Version 
No.

Date File Reference Author Remarks/Changes

1.0 05/08/18 Final Report RL/
DWA

Final report

Sign-off List

Name Position Date Remarks

Richard Lewis Project Manager 05/08/18 Released for Project Director review

Duncan Wood-Allum Project Director 06/08/18 Final report approved

Distribution List

Name Position Date

Rebecca Stamper Sport and Leisure Officer 06/08/18

Page 96



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study ii Final Report Ver 1.0

    Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................6

1.1 Background ...............................................................................................................................6
1.2 Scope of the Study ....................................................................................................................6
1.3 The Structure of our Report ......................................................................................................7

2 STUDY CONTEXT ......................................................................................................................8

2.1 Introduction ..............................................................................................................................8
2.2 National Policies and Strategies ................................................................................................8
2.3 Local Context – The Borough of Allerdale .................................................................................9
2.4 Summary .................................................................................................................................14

3 COCKERMOUTH LOCAL CONTEXT, CURRENT FACILITIES WITHIN SCOPE AND STUDY SITE 
ASSESSMENTS........................................................................................................................15

3.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................15
3.2 Cockermouth Local Context ....................................................................................................15
3.3 Current Facilities within scope ................................................................................................16
3.4 Site Assessments .....................................................................................................................17
3.5 Summary .................................................................................................................................20

4 CONSULTATION .....................................................................................................................21

4.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................21
4.2 Sports Club consultation .........................................................................................................22
4.3 National Governing Bodies Consultation ................................................................................26
4.4 School Consultation ................................................................................................................28
4.5 Other consultation ..................................................................................................................29
4.6 Summary .................................................................................................................................30

5 EMERGING DIRECTION OF TRAVEL.........................................................................................31

5.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................31
5.2 Cockermouth Rugby Club site (Grassmoor Sports Centre) .....................................................31
5.3 Tarn Close Recreation Ground ................................................................................................32
5.4 Highfield Recreation Ground...................................................................................................33
5.5 Harris Park Tennis Courts - Upper Level..................................................................................35
5.6 Fairfield Primary School Recreation Field ...............................................................................35
5.7 Cockermouth Cricket Club.......................................................................................................36
5.8 Wakefield Road .......................................................................................................................36
5.9 Cockermouth Secondary School .............................................................................................37
5.10 The demand for a full size 3G pitch in Cockermouth ..............................................................37
5.11 Emerging Direction of Travel...................................................................................................38
5.13 Funding Appraisal....................................................................................................................41

Page 97



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study iii Final Report Ver 1.0

5.14 Summary .................................................................................................................................44

6 RECOMMENDATIONS AND NEXT STEPS .................................................................................45

6.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................45
6.2 Recommendations ..................................................................................................................45
6.3 Next Steps ...............................................................................................................................46

7 APPENDIX 1 : ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY ACTION PLAN .......50

Page 98



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 1 Final Report Ver 1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

1.  The Sport, Leisure and Culture Consultancy (SLC) was appointed by Allerdale Borough Council 
(ABC) in May 2018 to undertake a Scoping Study for the enhancement of sports facilities in 
Cockermouth. The aim of the study is to provide an assessment of current local provision of the 
sports facilities within the scope of this study in Cockermouth and to identify the needs and 
gaps in provision.

Scope of the Study

2.         SLC was appointed to produce a scoping study to meet the following key requirements:

 Quantify and quality assess (non-technical) existing sports facilities within the town – cross 
referencing findings to the 2014 Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) and Indoor Facilities Strategy. 
This should also include ancillary facilities, toilets, changing rooms, training areas, parking, 
and multipurpose sports rooms.

 Consult with local organisations who operate in Cockermouth town. This will include 
groups who manage their own facilities as well as those who aren’t responsible for any 
facilities. Consultation to include:

o Facility (including ancillary facilities) demands for their current offer and 
potential future demand

o Sites current facility capacity (if applicable)

o Potential for on site development (maximise use of space and resources) of 4 
listed sites

 Consult with National Governing Bodies around appropriate facilities for the relevant 
levels currently played by the teams in Cockermouth and their ambitions for this facility 
improvement in terms of putting resources into this area as part of their facilities strategy

 Identify opportunities / constraints (pros/cons) in terms of planning, land ownership, cost, 
timescales, construction issues to meeting demands identified on the 4 potential sites

 Produce a report which has a list of recommendations to improve the facilities offer with 
maximum benefit to a number of clubs and groups, starting with the highest priority to 
those that could be developed over a longer period of time.

3.        The study also had to take an overview of the strategic sporting context in which Cockermouth 
sits within the Borough.

4.         The key issues identified by SLC to be addressed through the study were as follows:

 There is a need to provide fit for purpose community sports facilities in the Cockermouth 
area, both now and in the future. 

 The Council recognises that any new sports facilities in the Cockermouth area should be 
based on local need and any decisions informed by a robust and independent evidence 
base. 

 That local consultation is key to informing the future approach to provision of sports 
facilities in Cockermouth. SLC’s approach recognised the importance of consultation in this 
study by allocating a significant amount of the study resource to this in order to ensure all 
parties views were captured. 

Page 99



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 2 Final Report Ver 1.0

 Clearly identifying and articulating what would be required in initially developing any 
potential site option(s) is a key factor in optimising any identified funding of any new 
developments. 

5.            The key outputs required were as follows:

 Audit and assessment of key sites within study scope

 Consultation with identified stakeholders

 Study report that clearly identifies the emerging direction of travel and the priorities 
for future development of sports facilities within study scope in Cockermouth and 
provides recommendations for future implementation of these priorities.

6.             Following the completion of the study the recommendations detailed below were made:

Recommendation 1

7.           That the following recommendations are delivered in line with the priorities and timescales 
identified within the Action Plan:

Recommendation 2

Highfield Recreation Ground

8.         That Highfield Recreation Ground is developed with the Titans Rugby League Club as a key 
partner as well as other sporting groups who could be accommodated on the site. This 
would involve an appropriate lease agreement for use of the old squash club building as 
well as the pitch area to develop multi-sport use on site. The multi-sport use would 
incorporate a home for Titans Rugby League Club, a base for Highfield Football Club, 
community squash use and a social base for Keswick Hockey Club who currently play their 
home games at Cockermouth School but are nomadic in terms of social facilities after 
games.   

Recommendation 3

Tarn Close

9.             That Cockermouth Junior Football Club is supported in its ambitions to develop the facilities 
at Tarn Close and to initially provide changing and toilet facilities; to then improve the 
quality of its grass pitches and finally to secure funding for the addition of 3G artificial pitch 
training provision if demand for all weather training couldn’t be met through 
recommendation 4 and the project met the demand criteria of the FA. 

Recommendation 4 

Cockermouth RUFC

10.            That Cockermouth RUFC is supported in its development plans to improve their facilities as 
a multi-sport venue. This would entail improving the quality of its grass pitches both for its 
1st team Rugby and Cockermouth Senior Football Club’s pitch and in terms of developing 
the quality of the other pitches and the upgrading of the existing floodlit tennis courts into a 
floodlit multi-sports surface suitable for a range of sports. Reviewing the current 
governance structure (particularly in relation to the Grassmoor Sports Centre) and 
establishing service level agreements between Cockermouth RUFC and the key current 

Page 100



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 3 Final Report Ver 1.0

users of the club facilities and future club use by other sports would have to be in place 
before any funding is committed from external sources. 

Recommendation 5

Harris Park Tennis Courts

11.          That Harris Park tennis courts are upgraded and floodlighting considered to allow for future 
tennis use by Cockermouth Tennis Club and the local community and to compensate for the 
loss of the 3 tennis courts at Cockermouth Rugby Union Football Club. Commit to initiating 
an appropriate management process. 

Recommendation 6 

Fairfield Primary School Recreation Field 

12.          That the development of a small changing pavilion on site by the school is supported where 
possible as this would support the development of use by the local athletic based clubs, 
offering a meeting place for activity which is currently ad hoc around the town centre and 
not always fit for purpose. If needs of these clubs cannot met by recommendations 2 and 4.

Recommendation 7

Cockermouth Cricket Club

13.           That Cockermouth Cricket Club are supported in their ambition to develop their women and 
girls offer by developing appropriate changing facilities within their clubhouse facilities.

Next Steps

14.         In order to deliver these recommendations, timescales for potential delivery needed to be 
identified and then put into priority order. This has been completed and the following 
action plan produced based on Sport England guidance documents in relation to the 
production of Playing Pitch and Indoor Facility Strategies. The action plan below in provides 
timescales for delivery in relation to identified priorities. 

Page 101



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 4 Final Report Ver 1.0

Action Plan Current core use Future core use Proposed additional facilities Priority (High 1-2 
years/Medium 3-5 
years/Low 5-7 years)

Highfield Football
Rugby League (occasional)
Squash

Football
Rugby League
Hockey (Social)
Squash
Multi Sport

Potential development of Cockermouth 
Titans ARFC home using Squash Club building 
and retaining a minimum of 1 squash court, 
providing a social base for Keswick Hockey 
Club and developing other facilities for multi 
sporting use

High (Initial works to 
make safe and improved 
changing room and social 
use)
Medium (for further 
development of final full 
site plans including 
pitches)

Tarn Close Football (Junior) Football (Junior) with the 
potential to develop senior 
football if required

Changing and toilet facilities

Improved quality grass pitches

3G pitch facilities

High

Medium

Low
Cockermouth Rugby 
Club

Rugby Union
Rugby League
Football (Senior)
Archery
Tennis (limited due to 
poor condition of floodlit 
courts)

Rugby Union
Rugby League*
Football (Senior)
Archery
Multi-Sports coaching and 
training (Basketball, 
Tennis, Football, Rugby, 
Netball, Hockey)

Development of multi-sport surface for 
coaching and training purposes on existing 
location of tennis courts 

Support in improving the quality of the 
current grass pitches on the site:
football pitch 

Rugby pitches

High

Medium 

Low
Harris Park (Upper 
levels) – Tennis

Tennis Tennis Upgrade of Tennis Courts to include 
floodlights to replace those at the Rugby Club

High

Cockermouth Cricket 
Club

Cricket Cricket Women and Girls Changing Facilities Medium

P
age 102



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 5 Final Report Ver 1.0

Action Plan Current core use Future core use Proposed additional facilities Priority (High 1-2 
years/Medium 3-5 
years/Low 5-7 years)

Fairfield Primary 
School Recreation 
Field

School use and 
Informal community use

School use and 
community use by 
Athletics based clubs

The school are planning to bid for education 
funding to upgrade these facilities to create a 
small changing pavilion on site. 

Medium

Wakefield Road 
Football Pitch

Football (Senior) Football (Senior) None N/A

Cockermouth 
Secondary School

Hockey
Football (Senior and 
Junior)
School Sports

Hockey
Football (Senior and 
Junior)
School Sports 

None (unless displacement of football from 
elsewhere in the future)

N/A

P
age 103



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 6 Final Report Ver 1.0

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background

1.1.1 The Sport, Leisure and Culture Consultancy (SLC) was appointed by Allerdale Borough 
Council (ABC) in May 2018 to undertake a Scoping Study for the enhancement of sports 
facilities in Cockermouth.

1.1.2 The aim of the study is to provide an assessment of current local provision of the sports 
facilities within the scope of this study in Cockermouth and to identify the needs and gaps in 
provision.

1.2 Scope of the Study

1.2.1 SLC was appointed to produce a scoping study to meet the following key requirements:

 Quantify and quality assess (non-technical) existing sports facilities within the town – 
cross referencing findings to the 2014 Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) and Indoor Facilities 
Strategy. This should also include ancillary facilities, toilets, changing rooms, training 
areas, parking, and multipurpose sports rooms.

 Consult with local organisations who operate in Cockermouth town. This will include 
groups who manage their own facilities as well as those who aren’t responsible for 
any facilities. Consultation to include:

o Facility (including ancillary facilities) demands for their current offer and 
potential future demand

o Sites current facility capacity (if applicable)

o Potential for on site development (maximise use of space and resources) of 4 
listed sites

 Consult with National Governing Bodies around appropriate facilities for the relevant 
levels currently played by the teams in Cockermouth and their ambitions for this 
facility improvement in terms of putting resources into this area as part of their 
facilities strategy

 Identify opportunities / constraints (pros/cons) in terms of planning, land ownership, 
cost, timescales, construction issues to meeting demands identified on the 4 potential 
sites

 Produce a report which has a list of recommendations to improve the facilities offer 
with maximum benefit to a number of clubs and groups, starting with the highest 
priority to those that could be developed over a longer period of time.

1.2.2 The study also had to take an overview of the strategic sporting context in which 
Cockermouth sits within the Borough.

1.2.3 The key issues identified by SLC to be addressed through the study were as follows:

 There is a need to provide fit for purpose community sports facilities in the 
Cockermouth area, both now and in the future. 

 The Council recognises that any new sports facilities in the Cockermouth area should 
be based on local need and any decisions informed by a robust and independent 
evidence base. 

Page 104



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 7 Final Report Ver 1.0

 That local consultation is key to informing the future approach to provision of sports 
facilities in Cockermouth. SLC’s approach recognised the importance of consultation in 
this study by allocating a significant amount of the study resource to this in order to 
ensure all parties views were captured. 

 Clearly identifying and articulating what would be required in initially developing any 
potential site option(s) is a key factor in optimising any identified funding of any new 
developments. 

1.2.4 The key outputs required were as follows:

 Audit and assessment of key sites within study scope

 Consultation with identified stakeholders

 Study report that clearly identifies the emerging direction of travel and the priorities 
for future development of sports facilities within study scope in Cockermouth and 
provides recommendations for future implementation of these priorities.

1.3 The Structure of our Report 

1.3.1 SLC have structured the remaining sections of this document to meet the requirements of 
the brief.

Table 1: Report Structure
Section Key Content or Output

2 Context Background to project

3 Current facilities within scope 
and site assessments

Services requirements, Conditions surveys, 
planning issues / site constraints, ground 
conditions, accessibility analysis and commercial 
property review

4 Consultation Consultation feedback from key stakeholders

5 Emerging direction of travel Identification of a clear way forward

6 Recommendations Recommendations 

7 Next Steps Implementation plan

1.3.2 Supporting information is included in a series of Appendices.

Page 105



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 8 Final Report Ver 1.0

2 STUDY CONTEXT

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 This section examines relevant strategic documents at a national and local level to identify 
which specific objectives and themes any development of sports facilities in Cockermouth 
could help address and provides a summary of these key documents. 

2.2 National Policies and Strategies

Sport England: Towards an Active Nation (2016 -2021) 

2.2.1 In December 2015, the government published Sporting Future: A New Strategy for an Active 
Nation, which set a new direction for sport policy looking beyond participation to the 
impact of sport and its potential to become a force for social good. It focuses on 5 
outcomes: physical wellbeing, mental wellbeing, individual development, social and 
community development, and economic development. 

2.2.2 Sport England’s strategy sets out how they will address the government’s objectives by 
making the following key changes to their approach: 

 “Focusing more money and resources on tackling inactivity because this is where the 
gains for the individual and for society are greatest

 Investing more in children and young people from the age of five to build positive 
attitudes to sport and activity as the foundations of an active life 

 Helping those who are active now to carry on, but at lower cost to the public purse 
over time. Sport England will work with those parts of the sector that serve the core 
market to help them identify ways in which they can come more sustainable and self-
sufficient 

 Putting customers at the heart of what we do, responding to how they organise their 
lives and helping the sector to be more welcoming and inclusive, especially to those 
groups currently under-represented in sport 

 Helping sport to keep pace with the digital expectations of customers 

 Working nationally where it makes sense to do so (for example on infrastructure and 
workforce) but encouraging stronger local collaboration to deliver a more joined-up 
experience of sport and activity for customers 

 Working with a wider range of partners, including the private sector, using our 
expertise as well as our investment to help others align their resources 

 Working with the sector to encourage innovation and share best practice particularly 
through applying the principles and practical learning of behaviour change.” 

National Planning Policy Framework 2012 

2.2.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out planning policies for England and 
how they are to be applied in the planning system. It also provides a framework for local 
people and their councils to produce distinct local and neighbourhood plans, reflecting the 
needs of local communities. 

2.2.4 The ‘promoting healthy communities’ theme identified that planning policies should be 
based on robust, up-to-date assessments of need for open space, sports and recreation 
facilities and opportunities for new provision. Specific needs and quantitative and 

Page 106



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 9 Final Report Ver 1.0

qualitative deficiencies and surpluses in local areas should be identified and used to inform 
what provision is required in an area. 

Public Health England: Everybody Active, Every Day (2014) 

2.2.5 In October 2014, Public Health England published a strategy for addressing low activity 
levels. They identify action required across four areas at national and local level. Of 
relevance to the development of Cockermouth sports facilities are the following: 

 Active society: creating a social movement. Shifting social norms to change general 
attitudes to physical activity

 Active lives: creating the right environments. Creating environments that encourage 
people to be active every day

 Moving at scale: scaling up interventions that make us active. Maximising the 
potential of existing assets. 

2.3 Local Context – The Borough of Allerdale

Allerdale Borough Council Plan, 2015-2019 

2.3.1 The Plan sets out the Council’s long-term vision for Allerdale, the corporate priority themes 
and the outcomes that the Council want to achieve. The Plan is a strategic document that 
sits alongside to the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The Plan reflects the challenges 
facing the area and what people have told the Council is important to them. The Plan does 
not reflect the entirety of the Council’s activities, all of which are important in meeting 
residents’ expectations and needs. However, it includes those key actions and areas of 
activity that the Council believe will help them achieve their vision. 

2.3.2 The borough of Allerdale is located in the north west of Cumbria covering an area of 1,258 
square kilometres. Allerdale is a diverse borough, both in terms of geography and history. It 
includes some of the country’s most stunning landscapes and important built heritage. 

2.3.3 Allerdale has seven distinct areas: the towns of Aspatria, Cockermouth, Keswick, Maryport 
Silloth Wigton and Workington and their hinterlands. Allerdale’s population of 96,200 is 
largely concentrated in the south west around Workington, Maryport and Cockermouth 
where population density is 450 people per square kilometre. By contrast, the Solway Plain 
has a population density of just 50 people per square kilometre. 

2.3.4 The area loses young people to higher education outside the area and has had the greatest 
rise (between 2001 and 2011) in the number of residents aged over 85 years in Cumbria and 
has an older population profile than England and Wales. The population is ‘ageing’ at a 
faster rate than the population nationally. 

Employment

2.3.5 Unemployment rates for Allerdale as a whole are slightly lower than the regional and 
national averages, however, there are pockets of unemployment well in excess of the 
national average in some towns. Allerdale has a higher proportion of its working age 
population with no qualifications (27%) and a lower proportion with degree-level 
qualifications (23%) than the national averages (22% and 27% respectively). The major 
employers in the borough are in the manufacturing, wholesale/retail, hotel and restaurant 
businesses, and the public sector. Manufacturing is largely concentrated on the west coast 
with retail centres in the towns of Workington, Cockermouth, Maryport, Keswick and 
Wigton. 

Page 107



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 10 Final Report Ver 1.0

Deprivation

2.3.6 In terms of overall ranking for deprivation Allerdale is ranked 111 out of England’s 326 local 
authorities (where 1 = most deprived and 326 = least deprived). However, there are 
significant variations in terms of deprivation across the borough with a fifth of Allerdale’s 
Census areas in the most deprived 20% of Census areas in the entire country. There appears 
to be a widening of the gap between those areas with high deprivation and those with 
relatively low deprivation. 

Health 

2.3.7 Average life expectancies for Allerdale residents have improved over time but remain lower 
than the England and Cumbrian averages. Looking across the borough, there is an eight-year 
gap (men) and a six-year gap (women) between the most and least deprived areas of the 
borough. Childhood obesity levels in Allerdale are slightly higher than the Cumbria and 
national averages. Allerdale has a higher proportion than the national average of both men 
(44.8%) and women (52.1%) who do not manage any physical activity per week contributing 
to an adult obesity rate of 24.2%. The rate of stays in hospital due to alcohol related harm, 
the rate of stays in hospital due to self-harm, and the rate of smoking are worse than the 
averages for England. 

The community's views 

2.3.8 In 2014 the Council carried out their biennial residents’ survey to hear their views on living 
in Allerdale and what their priorities are for council services. The Council asked residents to 
identify what was most important in making somewhere a good place to live and what was 
most in need of improvement. 

2.3.9 Listed as most important and most in need of improvement were: 

 Road and pavement repairs 

 Job prospects 

 Health services 

 Bus services 

 Car parking 

 Affordable, decent housing 

 Clean streets. 

2.3.10 Allerdale is a diverse borough with a rich history and stunning landscapes. The area has low 
levels of crime and many residents enjoy an excellent quality of life. 

2.3.11 However, Allerdale also faces some significant challenges. The diversity of geography and 
history across the borough manifests as a broad range of issues and challenges facing the 
different communities across the borough. 

2.3.12 On the surface, Allerdale very often seems to mirror the county averages in a range of 
statistics. However, when you look beyond borough level figures, it soon becomes apparent 
that Allerdale is a place with a huge amount of variation, where one area can differ 
significantly from another. As a result, the issues that affect the residents in one part of the 
borough can be very different to those in another area. 

2.3.13 The market towns of Cockermouth and Keswick enjoy stunning scenery, with Keswick, 
located in the Lake District National Park, an important tourist destination. However, both 
towns and the surrounding rural villages, face problems with a lack of affordable housing.

Page 108



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 11 Final Report Ver 1.0

2.3.14 Due to the rural nature of the borough transport connectivity, broadband provision and 
access to services remain an issue. Affordable housing is a problem for much of the 
borough, but is particularly significant in Keswick, Cockermouth and parts of north Allerdale. 

2.3.15 The Council are committed to meeting these challenges but recognise that with less money 
and fewer resources the Council must think and act differently. The Council will need to look 
beyond Council organisational and district boundaries and work in partnership with other 
private, public and voluntary sector bodies to deliver both our ambitions for the borough 
and the continued delivery of excellent quality services for our residents.

2.3.16 The Council sets out its priorities within its Council Plan. Key projects ensure these priorities 
are met. The Plan, which is reviewed and updated annually, has five key themes. They are:

 Tackling inequality

 Strengthening the economy

 Enhancing the towns

 Improving health and well-being

 Creating a sustainable business.

Indoor Facilities Strategy for Allerdale, October 2014 

2.3.17 The Strategy provides a framework for the Council and its partners to maintain and improve 
the Borough’s leisure assets and to help address the key issues emerging from the 
Assessment. The Strategy vision is based upon a clear, achievable framework of strategic 
objectives and recommends that the Council and its partners adopt the following strategic 
objectives (as policy) to enable it to achieve this:  

OBJECTIVE 1

 Ensure Allerdale has an appropriate mix and spread of county, community and 
neighbourhood sports facilities programmed to meet the needs and aspirations of 
strategic stakeholders and local communities.

OBJECTIVE 2

 Commit to key facility development projects to replace or bring facilities up to 
standard.

OBJECTIVE 3

 Work with partners to develop a consistent approach to community use.

OBJECTIVE 4

 Take a more strategic approach to facility programming on a Borough-wide basis.

2.3.18 The strategy concludes the following in relation to the quality of facilities in Cockermouth 
based on site visits and non-technical assessments and gaps in provision:

 Cockermouth Sports Centre - average rated

 Cockermouth School sports facilities – average rated

 Grassmoor Sports Centre (Cockermouth RUFC) – not included (requested to be 
excluded)

 The key gap in four court(or more) sports hall provision is in Cockermouth, which is 
identified as the facility operating at highest capacity in the peak period.

Page 109



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 12 Final Report Ver 1.0

2.3.19 The assessment report identifies that there is a clear need to retain a sports hall and 
swimming pool in the Cockermouth area and states that:

 “Given the condition of Cockermouth swimming pool and the fact that it is the key 
area without access to a four court sports hall (and its three court operates to the 
highest capacity) there will be a need to consider the long-term refurbishment or 
replacement of the facility. It is unlikely that the footprint of the existing site could 
accommodate the extension of the sports hall alongside the refurbishment of the pool; 
therefore consideration will need to be given to relocating the facility to a new site in 
the town. The potential facility mix for this new facility should include as a minimum:

o 4/5 lane 25m swimming pool. 
o 4 court sports hall
o Health and fitness facility (circa 50 - 60 stations)
o Group fitness studio x 2
o Climbing wall
o Ancillary facilities as appropriate”.

2.3.20 The action plan for the Strategy identifies the following actions for the future of indoor 
sports facilities in Cockermouth moving forward

 Consider the potential to refurbish Cockermouth Leisure Centre with the option of 
extending the sports hall. Alternatively, if the footprint does not allow this 
consideration should be given to replacing the facility in another part of the town

 Assess longer term needs of the school regarding increased sports hall provision. If 
required, assess the potential and appropriateness of co-locating school and 
community sports provision.

Allerdale Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan, October 2014

2.3.21 Within the Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan the key issues for Allerdale are identified 
as needing to be addressed. Using these key issues identified in the Assessment Report, the 
following priorities are identified for Allerdale and provide the context for the development 
of the aims and objectives within the Strategy.

Common issues 

 Increasing the quality and availability of changing room provision

 Limited access to grass pitches at education sites for community use

 Concerns over long term security of tenure

 Lack of dedicated training facilities particularly AGP provision to accommodate rugby 
(union and league) and football training. 

Football pitches

 Quality of pitches and ancillary facilities to make certain sites more desirable (usable) 
to clubs

 Spare capacity and overplay expressed on football pitches

 Latent demand expressed by clubs

 Deficiency of 3G pitches (1.5 pitches) to meet current and future demand expressed 
by the FA and clubs

 Growing demand for youth pitches.

Page 110



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 13 Final Report Ver 1.0

Cricket pitches

 There is no spare capacity for fine turf pitches in Allerdale to accommodate any 
further play, either midweek or on a Saturday. Therefore, future and latent demand 
could not be accommodated on the current supply of grass wickets.

Rugby union pitches

 Increasing pitch quality and addressing overplayed sites/pitches due to training on 
match pitches

 Lack of dedicated grass training pitches and International Rugby Board compliant 
Artificial Grass Pitches (AGPs).

Rugby league pitches

 Increasing pitch quality and addressing overplayed sites/pitches including addressing a 
lack of dedicated grass training pitches and RFL Community Standard compliant AGPs.

Artificial grass pitches (AGPs)

 Sustaining/improving the quality of existing provision to meet hockey needs

 Consolidating and effectively utilising AGP pitch stock to meet future demand

 Addressing the shortfall of 3G AGP pitches in Allerdale for rugby (union and league) 
and football.

Tennis courts

 Poor quality courts at Cockermouth School, Harrington Lawn Tennis Club, Anthorn 
Sports Club and Grassmoor Sports Centre

 Likely increase in participation and associated future demand for courts. 

Athletics tracks

 Ensuring appropriate access to facilities for clubs in Allerdale.

Netball courts

 Retaining current usage of outdoor netball courts and increasing the quality of key 
sites for netball to supplement indoor provision.

2.3.22 Within the Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan the following is identified in relation to 
Cockermouth:

Football

Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 
Demand (match sessions per week)Cockermouth Actual 

spare 
capacity     
(match 

equivalent 
sessions)

Overplay Latent 
demand

Unmet 
demand

Total
(current)

Future 
demand

Total
(future)

Adult pitches 7 - 0.5 - 6.5 0.35 6

Youth pitches 4 - - - 4 0.55 5

Mini pitches 1 - - - 1 0.4 1

Page 111



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 14 Final Report Ver 1.0

 Latent demand for one team which can be accommodated on spare capacity 

 Half of the spare capacity expressed on adult and youth pitches should be retained in 
order to protect quality/rest pitches

 Level of mini pitch spare capacity expressed should be retained in order to protect 
quality/rest pitches.

Cricket

 No spare capacity in the area due to quality of pitch (Cockermouth Cricket Club played 
to capacity and no actual spare capacity at Broughton Cricket Club due to quality 
issues)

 Latent demand expressed at Cockermouth Cricket Club. 

Rugby union

 Poor pitch quality/drainage at Grassmoor Sports Centre (Cockermouth RFC)

 Pitches are also overplayed due to training on pitches and all year round use from 
rugby league club

 Demand in the Area for one mini/midi pitch to accommodate future demand from 
Allerdale as a whole. 

Rugby league

 Poor and standard quality pitches in the Area

 Overplay at Broughton Red Rose RLFC due to poor quality

 No spare capacity in the Area due to quality of pitch

 No significant future demand for pitches.

AGPs

 Poor pitch quality at Cockermouth School affecting hockey use.

2.3.23 The action plan, included in Appendix 1, shows the identified priorities for Cockermouth. 

2.4 Summary 

2.4.1 From this section, we can see that any proposed sports facilities development in 
Cockermouth would be in line with a number of the objectives set out by the strategies of 
Sport England, Public Health England and Allerdale relating to health and sport and physical 
activity provision, including: 

 Sustainable and self-sufficient local provision which enables the active to contribute 
to be active at low cost to the public purse (Sport England) 

 Investing in children to build positive attitudes to sport and activity (Sport England) 

 Tackling inactivity (Sport England) 

 Creating environments that encourage people to be active everyday (Public Health 
England) 

 Changing general attitudes to physical activity (Public Health England) 

Page 112



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 15 Final Report Ver 1.0

 Continue the positive influence of community sports clubs which encourage 
volunteerism and community cohesion, encourage family-wide participation, engage 
inactive young people and allow greater access to physical activity (ABC Local Plan).

Page 113



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 16 Final Report Ver 1.0

3 COCKERMOUTH LOCAL CONTEXT, CURRENT FACILITIES WITHIN SCOPE AND STUDY SITE 
ASSESSMENTS

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Having determined in section 2 that any developments in Cockermouth would be in line 
with both national and borough wide objectives, this section looks to consider the local 
context specifically for the Cockermouth area. It reviews the current facilities that are within 
scope of this study and outlines the site assessments that were undertaken to inform the 
emerging direction of travel and recommendations sections within this report.

3.2 Cockermouth Local Context

Location

3.2.1 The market town of Cockermouth is located in the Borough of Allerdale in Cumbria, so 
named because it is at the confluence of the River Cocker as it flows into the River Derwent. 

3.2.2 Historically a part of Cumberland, Cockermouth is situated outside the English Lake District 
on its northwest fringe. The market place is a central focus within the town. The town is 
prone to flooding and has experienced severe floods in 2005, 2009, and 2015.

Demographics

3.2.3 The NOMIS 2011 Census Data for Cockermouth provides the following information in 
relation to the Demographic of the local area;

 8,761 usual residents as at Census day 2011

 Of these, 98.8% lived in households and 1.2% lived in communal establishments

 The average (mean) age of residents was 44.4 years

 In total there were 4,285 household spaces. Of these, 4,026 (94%) had at least one 
usual resident and 259 (6%) had no usual residents

 98.1% of population classed as White; 0.5% Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups; 1.2% 
Asian/British Asian; 0.1% Black/African/Caribbean/Black British & 0.1% Other

 18.5 % have no access to a car; 81.5% have access to one or more cars

 65.4% are in employment; 9.2% are self-employed; 3% unemployed; 2.9% students; 
19.5% retired and 3% long term sick or disabled 

 81% classed their health as either very good or good; 14% as having fair health; 5% as 
either bad or very bad health.

3.2.4 ONS Sub National Population Projections 2016 (released 28.5.18) state that Allerdale 
Borough is projected to hardly grow from its current projected population of 97,119 in 2018 
to 97,224 in 2026 and then decline to 96,919 by 2030 and then a projected continuing 
decline through to 2041, where the population is estimated to be 95,542.  

3.2.5 It is clear that when looking at the projected population changes for Allerdale, alongside the 
fact that there is minimal housing growth planned for the Cockermouth area, it is unlikely 
that there will any increase in demand for sports facilities. This applies to Allerdale and also 
by inference for the Cockermouth area.

Local Sporting Context

3.2.6 The study brief identified that within Cockermouth:

Page 114



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 17 Final Report Ver 1.0

“A number of local groups are looking at their own sites and investigating ways to 
develop facilities that will meet their needs and those of other local clubs and groups. 
However, there is a need to look at the bigger picture and bring clubs together, rather 
than work in isolation to take a more strategic approach to developing sports facilities 
across the town, particularly within the current funding climate.

An assessment of existing sports facilities which takes into account Cockermouth’s current 
and future sporting needs is required by the Council. This will assess what is required in 
order to improve the facility offer with consideration to constraints and opportunities and 
provide recommendations on next steps. This should consider both long term needs, and 
short to medium term improvements which will bring about the most benefit within a 
reasonable timescale and achievable costings.

The study is required to feed back on the sporting development potential of 4 main sites – 
Cockermouth Rugby Union Club, Highfields Recreational Ground, Tarn Close Recreational 
Ground and Fairfield School Playing Fields.

This study will provide a platform from which more detailed planning work can be done 
and will be used to inform funding applications to develop and enhance the sports 
provision in Cockermouth.”

3.3 Current Facilities within scope

3.3.1 The facilities within study scope are aligned to the site assessments agreed within the study 
scope and are shown in Table 2 relating to each of the agreed sites.

3.3.2 The sites within study scope are shown in Figure 1:

Figure 1: Cockermouth Sports Facilities within Study Scope

Page 115



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 18 Final Report Ver 1.0

3.4 Site Assessments

3.4.1 Site assessments were carried out for the sites identified and agreed as within the study 
scope as shown in line with the following study brief:

“Quantify and quality assess (non-technical) existing sports facilities within the town – 
cross referencing findings to the 2014 PPS and Indoor Facilities strategy. This should also 
include ancillary facilities, toilets, changing rooms, training areas, parking, and 
multipurpose sports rooms.”

3.4.2 There were four sites requested by ABC in the brief to be included in the study scope for a 
non-technical site assessment to be carried out at. These were Cockermouth Rugby Union 
Football Club, Highfield Recreation Ground, Tarn Close Recreation Ground and Fairfield 
School Playing Fields.  

3.4.3 However, as the study developed it was agreed that the Harris Park Tennis Courts should 
also be site assessed and as part of consultation visits SLC undertook additional site 
assessments for Wakefield Road Football Pitch, Cockermouth School and Cockermouth 
Cricket Club. A summary of these site assessments is provided in Table 2.

Page 116



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 19 Final Report Ver 1.0

Table 2: Site Assessments
Sites Assessed Current Use Facilities on site – taken from PPS 

(including quality rating) and cross checked 
during site assessment

Current condition/issues

Cockermouth Rugby Club Rugby Union

Rugby League

Football (Senior)

Archery

Tennis (limited due 
to poor condition of 
floodlit courts)

2 senior and 3 mini rugby union pitches of 
poor quality due to very poor drainage

1 standard quality adult football pitch 

Poor quality tennis courts (including 
floodlights being out of use)  

Since the PPS drainage work has been 
undertaken and pitch quality has improved 
slightly 

1st team Rugby pitch, youth rugby pitch and senior football 
pitch of average/good quality but pitches have issues with 
drainage which requires annual maintenance and affects 
summer Rugby League use.  

Other two Rugby pitches suffer from sloping issues and are 
average in quality.

Club house facilities: Bar/social area excellent. Changing 
adequate and average in quality.

Tennis courts are poor quality and floodlights do not 
currently work.

Tarn Close Football (Junior) 1 standard quality youth football pitch in 
centre of old cinder running track. Currently 
used as 3 junior pitches
 

Average to good grass pitches. No changing accommodation. 

Highfield Football

Rugby League 
(occasional)

Squash

1 standard quality adult football pitch Marked out for adult rugby and football. The grass area is 
slightly sloping but provides an average quality playing area. 
The squash club building is of poor to average quality but 
could be improved. A building survey has been commissioned 
by ABC and the results have identified that there are no 
major structural issues with the building but within the next 5 
years there would be a need to do some work on the roof.

Wakefield Road Football Pitch Football (Senior) 1 standard quality adult football pitch 1 Senior football pitch of average/good quality.

P
age 117



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 20 Final Report Ver 1.0

Sites Assessed Current Use Facilities on site – taken from PPS 
(including quality rating) and cross checked 
during site assessment

Current condition/issues

Fairfield Primary School 
Recreation Field

School use and 
Informal community 
use

3 Youth size football pitches over three 
levels

3 junior football pitch sized areas (not all used for football) of 
average quality. No facilities on site

Harris Park (Upper levels) - 
Tennis

Tennis 2 standard quality tennis courts (no 
floodlighting) 

2 tennis courts (not floodlit) of poor to average quality and 
suffering from some tree route damage

Cockermouth Secondary 
School

Hockey
Football (Senior and 
Junior)

3 adult and 3 youth (9v9) good quality 
football pitches

1 standard quality cricket pitch with 
synthetic wicket 

3 poor quality rugby union pitches

1 standard quality full size floodlit sand 
filled AGP. (carpet) replaced since PPS and 
now of good quality)

Used by Hockey & Football community clubs but also used as 
playground for school break times the sand filled artificial 
grass pitch is of average/good quality

The grass football pitches are of good quality having 
benefited from some previous investment from the Football 
Foundation

Cockermouth Cricket Club Cricket 1 good quality cricket pitch with grass and 
synthetic wickets. 

Excellent condition and quality of playing area and social 
area. Changing rooms of average quality and no 
girls/women’s additional changing

P
age 118



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 21 Final Report Ver 1.0

3.5 Summary

3.5.1 This section has set the scene in relation to the local context in Cockermouth. It has 
identified and cross referenced the sports facilities on each site of the clubs within study 
scope with the Playing Pitch Strategy produced in October 2014. It also summarises the site 
assessments of these club facilities undertaken as part of this study to ascertain their 
current condition. Finally, it has identified any issues in relation to regular club use and any 
potential future development

3.5.2 The site assessment information provided an understanding of the sites which was then 
used to carry out consultation with sports clubs within study scope and have an informed 
discussion with clubs to discuss their current and future needs.

Page 119



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 22 Final Report Ver 1.0

4 CONSULTATION

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 An integral part of the study was to carry out consultation with key stakeholders. As part of 
the study brief the following consultation was requested:

4.1.2 Consult with local organisations who operate in Cockermouth town. This will include groups 
who manage their own facilities as well as those who aren’t responsible for any facilities. 
Consultation to include:

 Facility (including ancillary facilities) demands for their current offer and potential 
future demand

 Sites current facility capacity (if applicable)

 Potential for on site development (maximise use of space and resources) of 4 listed 
sites.

4.1.3 Consult with National Governing Bodies around appropriate facilities for the relevant levels 
currently played by the teams in Cockermouth and their ambitions for this facility 
improvement in terms of putting resources into this area as part of their facilities strategy.

4.1.4 At the inception meeting the following list of consultees were agreed with ABC to be 
contacted as part of the study:

Sports Clubs

 Cockermouth Rugby Union Football Club

 Deer Orchard FC

 Highfield FC

 Cockermouth Senior Football Club

 Cockermouth Vets Football Club

 Cockermouth Junior FC

 Cockermouth Titans ARFC 

 Tri Lakeland Triathlon Club

 West Cumbria Orienteering Club

 Derwent Athletics Club

 Cockermouth Tennis Club

 Cockermouth Squash Club

 Keswick Hockey Club

 Cockermouth Cricket Club

 Cockermouth Royal Company of Archers.

National Governing Bodies

 Cumberland FA

 Cumbria RFU

 Cumbria LTA

 Cumbria RFL

Page 120



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 23 Final Report Ver 1.0

 England Hockey

 England Athletics

 British Triathlon

 England Squash.

Schools

 Fairfield Primary School

 All Saints C of E Primary School

 Bridekirk Primary School

 Broughton Primary School

 Eaglesfield Paddle C of E Primary School

 Lorton Primary School

 St.Bridget’s C of E Primary School

 St. Joseph’s RC Primary School

 Cockermouth School.

Other organisations

 Allerdale Borough Council - Councillors

 Allerdale Borough Council - Local Planning Policy Officer

 Cockermouth Town Council.

4.1.5 The following section details the responses received which have been used to inform the 
study process.

4.2 Sports Club consultation 

4.2.1 A total of 15 local sports clubs were contacted and were offered the opportunity to 
contribute to the study. Despite several attempts to contact some sports clubs, no response 
was received. Table 3 shows the responses received from the clubs.

Page 121



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 24 Final Report Ver 1.0

Table 3: Club consultation responses
Clubs consulted Club comments 

Cockermouth Rugby Union 
Football Club

 The club have a sports development plan 2016-2020 to:
o Improve the existing tennis court use by restoring floodlights and improving surface to a generic multi-sport 

surface to create a multi sports coaching and training area which could generate an income
o Increase girl’s participation
o Develop a fitness programme available to all members
o To work with the senior football club to develop playing arrangement for senior players
o Ambition to level and improve the two “mount” pitches which currently suffer from sloping issues
o To look to improve drainage/quality and condition of 1st team rugby and senior football pitches
o To provide training floodlights.

 2015 - MUGA application to Sport England Funding unsuccessful – still desire to develop this with a multi-surface
 Governance Structure:

o CRFUC sits above Grassmoor Sports Centre structure (which was an IPS but since 2012 is now a co-operative) 
above CRUFC and alongside other sports club users 

o Grassmoor Sports Centre funded by Sport England with 18 months left to run on 25 year funding period.

 No formal agreements in place with current users – Titans Rugby League, Cockermouth Senior Football Club, 
Cockermouth Archers and Cockermouth Tennis Club.

Deer Orchard FC None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

Highfield FC None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

Cockermouth Senior 
Football Club

 Issues with pitch drainage have meant that last season approximately 50% of home matches were cancelled. CSFC 
trying to secure funding to improve drainage

 To secure funding however most funders require security of tenure and CSFC although having been based at the 
rugby club for over 20 years, they do not have an agreement in place

 CSFC confirmed that they were happy with their current location and arrangements with the Rugby Club and that 
with work to improve pitch drainage CSFC would have resolved their only major issue

 CSFC have no plans to establish a junior section or merge with Cockermouth Junior Football Club.
Cockermouth Junior FC  Club run a large number of junior clubs from U-8 boys through to U-18 & U-8, U10, U12 & U14 girls

 The club have taken a long-term peppercorn lease on Tarn Close with the Town Council
 The club have now achieved a stable financial position since the new committee have taken over 
 Grass pitch maintenance a current issue - £1300 per season spent on pitches

P
age 122



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 25 Final Report Ver 1.0

Clubs consulted Club comments 

 Current training capacity limited and not enough coaches
 Currently pay approximately £8K per annum on use of artificial pitch for playing and training at Cockermouth 

Secondary School
 The club have been very proactive in looking to develop the club’s facilities and in discussing with other sports clubs 

the possibility of joint development.

 Priorities for future development (in order of priority):
a. Basic changing and utilities – within 2 years
b. Improved quality grass pitches
c. 3G pitch.

Cockermouth Titans ARFC Need a base where they can play without match cancellation each year and somewhere with the ability to raise funds for 
the club (through the sale of food and refreshments). The club need to decide as to whether to try and negotiate and 
come to agreement with Cockermouth RUFC to do this or explore the possibility of moving to Highfield and take on the 
lease of the squash club building for this purpose.

Tri Lakeland Triathlon Club None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

West Cumbria Orienteering 
Club

None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

Derwent Athletics Club  Currently have approximately 60 members and train on a Tuesday and Thursday evening.  Train for all types of 
running, road, trail, fell and cross country.  Club are looking for a facility that will allow them to do drills, technical 
work and speed training all year round that can accommodate junior runners as well as adults.  The club aim is to 
establish a junior running group within the club/town as at present the club have to turn them away as they don’t 
have the correct facilities for briefings, training and cool downs. 

 The club are looking to become a partner of a wider group as they don’t have the numbers to manage their own 
facility and meet all the required legislations.

 The club are in the process of handing over to ABC the club hut adjacent to the theatre.
Cockermouth Tennis Club None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

Cockermouth Squash Club Club folded at start of study.

Keswick Hockey Club  Currently use Cockermouth Secondary School’s artificial pitch. The carpet was replaced approximately 4 years ago 
and the quality has declined as a result. There is minimal bounce and plays better when wet. Ideally the club would 
prefer to play on a better quality pitch, but have minimal choice locally 

 Currently spend approximately £14k per annum on pitch hire
 Also, the future of hosting the annual masters tournament will be considered due to the poor quality of the pitch.  

P
age 123



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 26 Final Report Ver 1.0

Clubs consulted Club comments 

 The club are keeping tabs on any new pitches being developed within reasonable reach but most being developed 
are 3G football or rugby specific

 The changing facilities at the school are poor and mainly used by visiting teams
 After match food and refreshments are at a variety of local hostelries but the club really need a permanent base to 

host the hockey club even though the reality is pitch time will be away from the site.
Cockermouth Cricket Club  Issues around lack of volunteers and succession planning for current groundsman; future provision of girls and 

women’s changing and expansion of social area.
 Flooding is an ongoing issue and the placing of white concrete barriers has stopped most of the debris from getting 

on to playing surface, which means the playing surface can be returned to playing condition slightly easier with 
mainly water getting onto playing surface.

Cockermouth Royal 
Company of Archers

None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

P
age 124



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 27 Final Report Ver 1.0

4.3 National Governing Bodies Consultation

4.3.1 At study inception it was agreed that eight identified National Governing Bodies would be contacted as part of the study. There were 
two NGB’s that were contacted several times to obtain their views, but no response was forthcoming. It was therefore assumed that 
they had no views on facilities within study scope. The NGBs’ responses are shown in Table 4.

Table 4: NGB consultation
NGB consulted NGB comments 

Cumberland FA  Clubs – current situation – 27 clubs in Cockermouth area (only 7 other than Cockermouth Junior Football Club 
teams). 42 teams required to justify a 3G pitch in the Cockermouth area

 2003 Football Foundation funded grass pitch work at Cockermouth school – used by Cockermouth Juniors
 No planned developments in Cockermouth area but would support any development at Tarn Close for Cockermouth 

Juniors and support Senior Club pitch improvements.
Cumbria RFU  Cockermouth Rugby Club have had a resurgence in the last few years after they nearly went out of existence due to 

debts owed to HMRC
 Club have applied to Sport England’s Aspire fund for training floodlights but have not got anywhere
 RFU have run a community engagement workshop at the club
 Priority still to provide training lights for grass pitches
 Issues with drainage on 1st team pitch – Club can apply for up to £1,500 to improve drainage. This is through the 

RFU priority list for Cumbria and the Rugby Club would be able to apply to go on this list and the need to improve 
pitch drainage would qualify them for inclusion.  

Cumbria LTA None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

Cumbria RFL  Last 4 or 5 years Cockermouth Titans have reformed – play in Cumbria Men’s League – move to Highfield was 
originally planned but then folded – then reformed open age and youth

 RFL would support any potential Titans move to Highfield but sustainability an issue. The site has always been Rugby 
League for over 100 years

 Highfield is in the 2021 Legacy fund pipeline for potential funding should this be a priority moving forward. Potential 
clash with any financial support from Rugby League World Cup 2021 legacy funding for Highfield development with 
the plan to re-develop Workington Reds close to Borough Park and Derwent Park to host Rugby League world cup 
match. Allerdale BC would have to prioritise

 Other funding would be through Sport England as no RFL funding available as all tied up with Rugby League world 
cup.

P
age 125



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 28 Final Report Ver 1.0

NGB consulted NGB comments 

England Hockey  Demand need for hockey in Cockermouth is fully sustained at Cockermouth School, where EH supported the bid to 
SE to resurface the AGP in 2014. The surface type is an EH category 3 sand filled surface for multi sports use and is 
acceptable for the level of hockey at Keswick HC

 Further investment within Cumbria for hockey facilities includes the following:
o Lakes School in partnership with Windermere Hockey Club – AGP resurfacing project funded through the 

National Hockey Foundation, Lakes Trust and School
o Queen Katherine School in partnership with Kendal Hockey Club – AGP resurfacing project funded through the 

National Hockey Foundation, Sport England and School
o Kirkby Stephen School in Partnership with KS Hockey Club – AGP resurfacing project, funding still to be confirmed 

from the National Hockey Foundation.

England Athletics None received despite several attempts to obtain comments.

British Triathlon  Limited interaction with Lakeland Tri Club. Weekly interaction with Keswick Tri-club
 Any development of sports facilities can only be good for triathlon and help develop priorities of over 50’s; girls and 

women’s; disability and children and young people
 Cumbria priorities – development of a good club representing Workington and Whitehaven as triathlon is poor in 

these areas.

England Squash  Recommended ratio of courts per person is 1:10,000. The ratio in Allerdale with the 3 courts is 1:12,026 which falls 
below our recommendations. Without the 3 courts in Allerdale that would leave no provision for the 25,000 people 
in Cockermouth and a ratio of 1:19,240 in Allerdale which falls significantly short

 Keeping at least 2 of the 3 courts would be the key to ensuring there is adequate provision for the community. 
Having 2 courts rather than 1 also enables the opportunity to provide greater provision, courts are often busiest at 
evenings and weekends, and only 1 available court would limit the number of people who can utilise the courts, and 
the number of box leagues, internal leagues and coaching sessions which can be offered, which are the mainstay of a 
thriving squash club. The squash facility can complement a wider offer for a multi-sport club.

P
age 126



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 29 Final Report Ver 1.0

4.4 School Consultation

At study inception a number of schools were identified to be contacted as part of the study. Schools were contacted several times to obtain 
their views, but for most no response was forthcoming. It was therefore assumed that they had no views on facilities within study scope. The 
school’s responses are given in Table 5.

Table 5: School consultation
School consulted School comments 

Fairfield Primary School  Looking to develop a Community Investment Fund for education funding bid to provide changing rooms and small 
congregating space on Fairfield playing field site for school pupils.

 Have identified that there could be the potential to develop community use on the site, but early discussions with 
ABC planning indicate that developing school use would be more favourable than community use due to 
additional requirements such as access, car parking, local residents etc;

All Saints C of E Primary School None received following initial contact

Bridekirk Primary School None received following initial contact

Broughton Primary School None received following initial contact

Eaglesfield Paddle C of E 
Primary School

None received following initial contact

Lorton Primary School None received following initial contact

St.Bridget’s C of E Primary 
School

None received following initial contact

St. Joseph’s RC Primary School None received following initial contact

Cockermouth School  School facilities - Grass pitches – 2 x full size; 1 x youth pitch; 2 minis – 9 v 9’s – used by local football clubs – 
predominantly Cockermouth Juniors – some investment by FA on pitches; Sand dressed astroturf – currently used 
for cricket, netball and hockey plus school break times – carpet renewal was based on school use; Sports hall – 2 
badminton court size; Changing rooms – poor design/not enough for all uses/impractical; All weather cricket 
wicket – just used by school team plus pie and peas cricket league midweek – ISAL cricket club

 Potential to add a 3G if demand merits and some form of club room for hockey/football.
 School ageing and not fit for purpose – potential for development of new facilities and possibly new leisure centre 

if school gets rebuilt

P
age 127



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 30 Final Report Ver 1.0

4.5 Other consultation 

4.5.1 At study inception it was agreed that the following organisations would be contacted as part of the study, in addition to the Sports 
Clubs, NGB’s & Schools. The responses are shown in Table 6 below:

Table 6: Other consultation
Organisation consulted Organisation comments 

Allerdale Borough Council 
Councillors

 Need to find out what the current position is in relation to the Athletics Club owned cabin adjacent to theatre  
 Food bank issues at Highfields need to be considered if looking at developing this site
 Grassmoor Sports Centre (Rugby Club site) was originally Sport England funded and has approximately 2 years left 

on its funding period. Harris Park Tennis courts also SE funded for multi sport use. 
 Previous discussions taken place with Cumberland FA about being housed in Cockermouth but came to nothing
 No venue which can hold a large number of people is available in Cockermouth (200+)
 Flood plain issues at the Cricket Club site
 Need to resolve future of Harris Park courts – refurbish/build an airdome and the lawn tennis club who currently 

use this site and the rugby club site.
Allerdale Borough Council 
Local Planning Policy

 Highfield site – no issues with development
 Fairfield School playing fields – could be issues if looking to develop community use in addition to any school use 

developments on site depending on level of community development and potential numbers using site
 Rugby Club – unsure as to whether any planning permissions on adjacent land other than the parcel of land sold 

to developer for small housing development adjacent to roadside – suggest a land registry search if there is a 
need to determine ownership

 Local plan – nothing significant to impact on sports facilities – no major demand for new housing.
Cockermouth Town Council  Tarn Close playing field – owned by CTC and currently rented to Cockermouth Junior Football Club for a 

peppercorn rent. The club have plans to develop basic changing, followed by a simple clubhouse facility and 
ultimately a 3G pitch

 Cockermouth Rugby Club (Grassmoor Sports Centre) should be developed as a sports hub within the remaining 
Sport England funding period (due to end in approximately 18 months)

 Rather than develop Tarn Close with changing and further facilities. Changing should be provided at the Rugby 
Club site with a path created for players to walk down and cross road to access Tarn Close. The senior and junior 
football clubs should come together to form one club which would help funding applications  

 View is that Highfield isn’t suitable due to the proximity of housing  
 Fairfields Primary School pitches not suitable for future community development if high levels of use as the 

infrastructure required would be difficult to achieve. 

P
age 128



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 31 Final Report Ver 1.0

4.6 Summary

4.6.1 The knowledge gathered from the consultation carried out along with the site assessments 
has been used to inform this study and to develop an emerging direction of travel for 
Cockermouth sports facilities within scope of this study.  

Page 129



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 32 Final Report Ver 1.0

5 EMERGING DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 The emerging direction of travel is informed by all the work carried out within the study 
scope and uses the contextual information, study site assessments, consultation and 
knowledge gained to understand the current situation in relation to sports facilities in scope 
within Cockermouth considering their current core use, their scope and potential for 
increased future use (based on demand and opportunity identified during club consultation) 
and any current facility needs and any future facility needs. This is in line with the study 
brief which identifies the need for consultation to include: 

 “Facilities (including ancillary facilities) demands for their current offer and potential 
future demand

 Sites current facility capacity (if applicable)

 Potential for on site development (maximise use of space and resources) of 4 listed 
sites”.

5.1.2 It should be noted that although 4 listed sites were originally included in the study brief, 8 
sites were considered in relation to current and future facilities as detailed above in 5.1.1. 
These sites are listed in Table 7 and the following provides information on each site in 
relation to the study brief needs above in 5.1.1. 

5.2 Cockermouth Rugby Club site (Grassmoor Sports Centre) 

5.2.1 Cockermouth Rugby club is located to the South East of Cockermouth Town Centre just off 
Strawberry How Road. The club currently has multi-sport use and in addition to Rugby 
Union, Cockermouth Senior Football Club, Titans Rugby League Club and Cockermouth 
Royal Company of Archers are all users of the site along with a variety of community users 
of the clubhouse facilities.

5.2.2 The site received Sport England funding just over 23 years ago to establish multi-sport use 
with the establishment of the Grassmoor Sports Centre operating model and the facility has 
been used by a number of sports since. The original funding agreement has only 
approximately 18 months left to run and following this period any obligation for multi-sport 
use in relation to the original agreement will cease.

5.2.3 The other sports clubs on site have used the Rugby Club facilities for a number of years with 
Cockermouth Senior Football Club having been incumbent since the establishment of 
Grassmoor Sports Centre. Consultation established that none of the other sports clubs that 
use the Rugby Club facilities have any formal tenancy or service level agreement in place 
which states the basis of their arrangements with the Rugby Club.

5.2.4 This causes a number of issues for the incumbent clubs. For example, the Senior Football 
Club are currently trying to secure funding to improve their pitch quality, but without an 
agreement in place most potential funders are reluctant to offer support to a club without 
security of tenure. In this example the Rugby Club have agreed to submit the Football Club’s 
funding application but this lack of a user agreement is causing issues for both the Football 
and Rugby League Club on site for differing reasons.

5.2.5 Titans Rugby League club have aspirations to develop and grow the club. They currently 
have no mechanism for generating funds through playing and training on site to support the 
planned growth and when coupled with regular league match cancellations over the last 2 

Page 130



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 33 Final Report Ver 1.0

summers, the Rugby League club are naturally considering their options for future 
development of their club both at the Rugby Club and at other sites.   

5.2.6 The Rugby League Club have had a number of league matches cancelled over the last two 
summers (Rugby League’s main playing season) due to the quality of current playing 
surfaces with pitch maintenance being required each summer to keep the pitches fit for 
their core use of Rugby Union and Football over the winter months.    

5.2.7 This current situation is in line with the findings of the 2014 PPS which details poor quality 
rugby pitches, standard quality football pitch, over use of pitches and a basic maintenance 
programme and considerable problems with pitch drainage, even though increased 
maintenance has taken place over the last two years to try and address the issues. The long- 
term solution is to undertake significant work to level the pitch area on the “mount” and to 
undertake the installation of new drainage into the both these and the other pitches on site 
to improve pitch quality.

5.2.8 Although this work would improve the situation with regards to playing Rugby League 
matches without fear of cancellation each summer, it would not offer the Rugby League 
club the opportunity to generate funds for development of the club. Only a service level 
agreement with the Rugby Club would allow this to happen.

5.2.9 Consultation with the Rugby Football League highlighted that whilst they support the Rugby 
League club’s development it would be unlikely that any funding would be available to them 
from the RFL, however the project is included for further discussion for the 2021 Rugby 
League World Cup legacy funding capital pot.  

5.2.10 The Rugby Club has the potential to develop further as a multi-sport venue and they have a 
development plan in place to try and achieve this. The main proposals in the plan are to 
provide floodlighting for grass pitch training and to convert the existing, poor quality tennis 
courts, into a floodlit multi-sport surface which would support a number of sports’ training 
needs, particularly for junior training and development. This multi-sport area would go 
some way towards providing improved sports club training facilities in the town. 
Consultation with Cockermouth Town Council identified that the development of this site 
linked to Tarn Close would be their preferred option for a one site multi-sport development 
in the town and would be in line with a lot of potential funders approach such as Sport 
England, Football Foundation and a number of NGBs. 

5.2.11 NGB consultation with the Football Association shows that they would support the 
improvement of the Senior Football pitch in principal, but only if the Senior Football Club 
had developed a junior section or developed an agreement with the junior football club to 
provide a player pathway. 

5.2.12 The Rugby Club site has the potential to develop more multi-sport use but any future 
funding from ABC must only be provided if suitable Service Level agreements are in place 
with other sports users who would be “resident” on site as part of any multi-sport offer. 
These service level agreements would be particularly important in relation to determining 
the future development of the Rugby League and Senior Football Clubs.    

5.3 Tarn Close Recreation Ground

5.3.1 Tarn Close Recreation Ground is located close to the Rugby Club and just slightly further 
South East. Formerly an old rubbish tip and later developed into a sports ground 
incorporating a cinder athletics track (now disused) with an inner full size grass football 
pitch, the site is now occupied by Cockermouth Junior Football Club who lease the facility 
from Cockermouth Town Council.

Page 131



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 34 Final Report Ver 1.0

5.3.2 The site currently has three junior pitches within the centre of the old cinder athletics track 
and these are of standard quality in line with the 2014 PPS findings. There are no changing 
or toilet facilities on site.

5.3.3 The Junior Football Club currently has numerous boys and girls teams and have ambitious 
plans to develop the site. Even though there is limited scope to acquire adjacent land that is 
suitable for further development, there is the potential to develop toilet and changing 
facilities and to improve pitch quality. The Junior Football Club also have aspirations to 
develop some form of artificial pitch provision on site.

5.3.4 The Football Association through the consultation process have stated that they would in 
principle support any future development of the Tarn Close site for the Junior Football Club. 

5.3.5 In terms of potential to develop other use on site there is the potential to house senior 
football, and an alliance with the Senior Football Club in the future could create a complete 
player pathway for football in Cockermouth. However, previous discussions between each 
party have not been fruitful and the Senior Football Club stated at the consultation stage of 
this study that they are happy being based at the Rugby Club and have no plans in the 
foreseeable future to formalise a pathway arrangement with the Junior Football Club.

5.3.6 This aside, the level of demand and current use of Tarn Close by the Junior Football Club and 
their plans for future development would merit supporting the future development of 
facilities on site, with toilet and changing facilities being the priority, with improving grass 
pitch quality and introducing an artificial pitch offer also worthy of consideration.    

5.3.7 England Athletics were offered the opportunity to comment on the future of the disused 
track on site, but no response was received. Consultation with the Junior Football Club 
identified that previous contact had been made with both Derwent Athletics Club and Tri 
Lakeland Triathlon Club and introductory junior courses had been run on-site but use had 
not been developed further due to lack of feedback from the two clubs following 
completion of the courses. Consultation with the Athletics Club highlighted that they now 
informally use Fairfield Primary School Recreation Field for junior sessions and as a meeting 
point for starting general club runs. This is due to its location close to most of core routes 
that the club use for training and the fact that the club have recently handed back the club 
hut located close to the Theatre in the Town Centre to ABC: The hut had previously been 
used as a start/meeting point for adult groups but was not suitable for junior meets or 
introductory junior sessions. 

5.4 Highfield Recreation Ground

5.4.1 A public recreation ground, Highfield is located on the edge of Cockermouth directly east 
from the Town Centre and is surrounded on all but one side by a housing estate. The 
recreation ground has been used for both football and rugby in the past and is currently 
used by football on a regular basis and by rugby league occasionally. Up until May 2018 the 
site was also used for Squash.

5.4.2 There are three brick-built buildings on the site. Cockermouth Squash Club up until recently 
occupied one of these which houses three squash courts (one of which is glass backed), a 
social area with catering provision and ancillary changing and toilet facilities. The second 
building on site was until recently dedicated football changing rooms used by the only club 
on site, Highfield Football Club, but has now had all internal walls and changing facilities 
removed and is now used as a community hall by local community groups. This leaves the 
pitch provision on site without changing provision. The final building on site is split into two 
halves with one half currently being a distribution point for the food bank once a week and 
the other half is run as a community café.

Page 132



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 35 Final Report Ver 1.0

5.4.3 The current recreation ground was marked out for adult rugby and football at the time of 
the assessment and both pitches are slightly sloping and are average in quality which 
corresponds with the findings of the 2014 PPS study.  

5.4.4 There is an opportunity for Titans Rugby League club (or another club or hybrid 
organisation) to take on the Squash Club building and develop it to meet a number of 
community needs including:

 A venue for Titan Rugby League Club’s own club development

 A local multi-sport hub

 A permanent social base for Keswick Hockey Club which can regular post-match food 
and refreshments

 Changing, toilet facilities and social facilities for Highfield Football Club

 Bookable community space in the form of a converted squash court space

 An alternative facility to house the food bank and as a replacement community space 
if the other two existing buildings are removed to create car parking for the expected 
users of the newly refurbished building.

5.4.5 Consultation with England Squash regarding the closure of the Squash Club highlighted the 
need to keep at least two of the three courts to ensure there is adequate provision for the 
community. Having two courts rather than one also enables the opportunity to provide 
greater provision, courts are often busiest at evenings and weekends, and only one 
available court would limit the number of people who can utilise the courts, and the 
number of box leagues, internal leagues and coaching sessions which can be offered, which 
are the mainstay of a thriving squash club. 

5.4.6 The Rugby League club have already come up with some basic plans to potentially take on 
the Squash Club building and a meeting on site between ABC and the Rugby League Club 
took place as part of this study to determine the feasibility of this. The need for a building 
condition survey was identified to determine any issues that would need to be addressed 
and this was commissioned by ABC.

5.4.7 The condition survey highlighted the following:

 The felt roof has had some repairs in the past

 There is a small area which requires patching over, the roof sags, and there is an 
area that pools water

 The roof probably has at least another five years life in it, subject to maintenance 

 None of the external cracking is reflected internally, except in the rear right hand 
corner of the building and in the boiler room where there is some movement in line 
with the external crack between the single storey and two storey portions

 Internally there were no major issues, but the building and the internal finishes are 
generally very tired. The Squash Club has obviously been struggling for quite a 
while. The changing facilities are basically sound but require “refreshing” with some 
repairs.

 The boiler appears to be in use. There is no information regarding electrical testing.

 The building is obviously designed for a specific use and depending on planned 
future usage, some internal alterations will be required.

Page 133



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 36 Final Report Ver 1.0

5.4.8 Although there would have to be some work carried out before any occupation of the 
building under a new lease agreement, these works are relatively minor in nature and 
therefore would not hinder any future development.

5.4.9 Consultation highlighted that there would be minimal issues with any planning permission 
required in relation to any change of use or development of any of the existing buildings, 
but measures would have to be put in place with regards balls going into back gardens of 
housing adjacent to the pitches during training and playing periods.  

5.4.10 The Rugby League Club have produced a development plan showing plans for the future 
growth of the Rugby League Club and this should form the basis of discussions between the 
club and ABC when considering any proposals and potentially negotiating any lease 
agreements moving forward.  

5.4.11 Consultation with the Rugby Football League highlighted that they would be supportive of 
any development by the Rugby League Club but that any development would have to be 
sustainable and they would insist on this being considered in detail before any final decision 
is taken by the Rugby League club. The project has been put forward for further discussion 
as part of the smaller pot of legacy funding through the Rugby League World Cup 2021. 
There are likely to be a number of local facilities putting projects forward from the area and 
there are plans to bid as part of the bigger capital pot as part of ABC’s plans for 
development of a new stadium in the Town.      

5.5 Harris Park Tennis Courts - Upper Level

5.5.1 Harris Park Tennis courts are located close to and just south of Cockermouth Town Centre 
and is the only traditional public park in the town. They are open access and are available 
for community use. The courts are not floodlit and are currently of poor to average quality 
with tree root damage creating an uneven playing surface.

5.5.2 The condition of the courts has deteriorated since the 2014 PPS where the courts were 
assessed as of average quality

5.5.3 Unfortunately, despite contacting both the Lawn Tennis Association and Cockermouth 
Tennis Club several times no response was received, but it is clear that tennis court 
provision of a good quality is required in Cockermouth moving forward to allow both future 
formal use by the Tennis Club and for informal community casual use.

5.5.4 The scoping study has identified that there is insufficient demand to merit five courts in the 
town with two courts in Harris Park and the 3 courts at the Rugby Club, but with the 
potential to redevelop the Rugby Club courts for alternative multi-sport use, then the 
refurbishment of the two Harris Park courts becomes a viable option to continue to provide 
a tennis offer in the Town. 

5.5.5 Any refurbished Tennis Court offer in Harris Park should if possible, and if funding allows, be 
floodlit to allow for year-round use (and to compensate for the loss of the Rugby Club 
courts) and should consider the need for use of ancillary facilities and the potential for a 
partnership with the adjacent bowling club for shared use of facilities particularly by the 
Tennis Club. 

5.6 Fairfield Primary School Recreation Field

5.6.1 Located directly south of Cockermouth Town Centre, Fairfield Primary School Recreation 
Field provides a valuable community recreation space in addition to its main function of 

Page 134



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 37 Final Report Ver 1.0

providing outdoor recreation space for the school. It is not part of the school site and is 
located a short walk south of the school. 

5.6.2 The Recreation Field is surrounded by housing and comprises three tiers upon which there 
is approximately space to fit a full size football pitch on each tier. The pitches are of average 
quality and were not assessed as part of the 2014 PPS. There is no car parking or ancillary 
facilities on site.  

5.6.3 School consultation identified that the school are planning to bid for education funding to 
upgrade the facilities on the Recreation Field and to create a small changing pavilion on site, 
which would provide shelter from the elements when school groups are using the site.

5.6.4 Consultation with the Football Association stated that there is no demand to develop these 
facilities and ABC Planning consultation determined that it would be difficult to develop the 
facilities for team community use with issues around local residents and creating dedicated 
car parking of sufficient size to meet demand from potentially six adult teams. 

5.6.5 Club consultation identified that Derwent Athletics Club currently use these facilities 
through an informal arrangement with the school and use the site for junior introductory 
sessions and as a club run meeting point, with core runs accessible from this site. The club 
use Sullart Street car parking and the level crossing to safely access the site negating the 
need for dedicated parking and demand for car parking spaces is much lower for these 
sessions than it would be for significant club team use. England Athletics were offered the 
opportunity to offer comments but no response was received.

5.6.6 St Joseph’s Primary School also use this site.

5.6.7 There is an opportunity to support the proposed school bid to create modest facilities on 
this site and to develop use of this new facility and the recreation grass space for individual 
use and junior group athletics-based sessions for clubs such as Athletics and Triathlon.

5.7 Cockermouth Cricket Club

5.7.1 Cockermouth Cricket Club is situated close to the Town Centre, slightly to the north west 
and on a flood plain site which is surrounded on nearly three sides by the River Derwent. 
The site has been flooded in 2009 and 2016. Following the 2009 flooding which caused 
major issues, the club has tried to manage the situation by placing concrete barriers in the 
lowest lying part of the site which helped when flooding took place in 2016 and kept the 
worst of the debris, which had caused the major issues in 2009, off the playing surface. 

5.7.2 The club has a good quality cricket pitch with grass and synthetic wickets which corresponds 
with the 2014 PPS. The PPS also identified that the pitch is currently played to capacity and 
club expressed latent demand for two junior teams. Study consultation identified that the 
club has managed this demand and are currently in the process of developing women and 
girl’s sessions and teams. 

5.7.3 The current situation is that the cricket club are comfortable with current arrangements 
regarding the playing area and clubhouse facilities other than they have a need to develop 
dedicated female changing as part of the ongoing commitment to develop the women and 
girls offer. This has caused problems already this season with junior girls now playing senior 
cricket and changing room arrangements not being suitable for both adults and juniors of 
the opposite sex.

5.7.4 The club’s requirement is to urgently provide a dedicated female changing space to address 
this issue.

Page 135



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 38 Final Report Ver 1.0

5.8 Wakefield Road 

5.8.1 Although outside of the original scope, Wakefield Road was site assessed as part of the 
study. The site has one adult grass pitch on site and is of standard quality which is in line 
with the 2014 PPS.

5.8.2 The site is surrounded by residential properties, a public pay and pay car park and an 
industrial estate and has no future scope for development of additional or alternative use 
facilities.  

5.8.3 The Football Association did not make comment on this site and the no response was 
received from club consultation. 

5.9 Cockermouth Secondary School

5.9.1 Located on the outskirts of Cockermouth to the east of the town, Cockermouth Secondary 
School plays an important role in supporting sports clubs in Cockermouth, in relation to 
meeting both training and playing needs.

5.9.2 The school has three adult and two youth good quality football pitches with community use 
by the Junior Football Club but has capacity. There is one good quality full size floodlit sand 
filled AGP which has minimal spare capacity and is also used by school pupils at break times. 
One standard quality cricket pitch with synthetic wicket is available for community use but 
currently has minimal use and there are three poor quality rugby union pitches, with limited 
use. 

5.9.3 The current quality is in line the 2014 PPS findings other than the fact that the AGP carpet 
has been replaced since 2014. The Hockey Club has raised some concerns over the new 
surface during consultation but this has been dispelled by the consultation response from 
England Hockey.

5.9.4 The changing room facilities are not ideal for club team use and have been highlighted by 
the Hockey club as an issue.

5.9.5 The school has some spare capacity to pick up any future football demand and could, with 
improvements to the Rugby pitches, meet any future demand for Rugby. However, current 
changing arrangements limit regular club use.

5.9.6 The school has the opportunity to develop its club offer if demand increases in the future. 
However, it is unlikely the school would be in a position to fund this. The only opportunity 
to improve the current sports club offer, given the current age and condition of the school 
buildings, would be if the school was rebuilt at some point in the future.

5.9.7 If this was the case, then there could be the opportunity to consider a dual use facility as 
part of a new school build which could incorporate a new build leisure centre to replace the 
existing Cockermouth Leisure Centre which was identified as a need in the 2014 IFS and to 
consider sports club use of the site at this time. 

5.10 The demand for a full size 3G pitch in Cockermouth 

5.10.1 Although not part of the original brief, the need for 3G pitch provision in Cockermouth to 
provide training and playing opportunities for both football and rugby was discussed with 
ABC at project inception and it was agreed that it would be considered as part of this study.  

5.10.2 The need for some form of 3G pitch provision was raised by some clubs during the 
consultation process and it was discussed with both relevant NGBs. 

Page 136



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 39 Final Report Ver 1.0

5.10.3 The Rugby Football Union whilst supporting floodlighting proposals at Cockermouth RUFC, 
do not envisage sufficient demand would be created to justify full size 3G rugby compliant 
pitch provision. 

5.10.4 The Football Association highlighted that in relation to the requirement for a minimum of 42 
teams to justify a full size 3G pitch provision in Cockermouth there are only 27 teams 
registered in the catchment area and therefore would not justify demand for a pitch.

5.10.5 However, all but 6 of these clubs are clubs other than those at Cockermouth Juniors, so they 
recognise that there could be a future case to justify a small sided 3G floodlit training pitch 
based on the Tarn Close site to support Cockermouth Juniors future development to meet 
current and future demand. 

5.10.6 With the potential to develop a small sided games and training area with a multi-sports 
surface on the site of the existing tennis courts at Cockermouth Rugby Club and the 
potential to develop a 3G small sided floodlit games area at Tarn Close in the future would 
meet any current and future demand.       

5.11 Emerging Direction of Travel

5.11.1 Using the information detailed in this section and the previous consultation and site 
assessment sections, Table 7 provides a summary of the emerging direction of travel which 
brings together all the site-specific information and knowledge detailed above:

Page 137



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 40 Final Report Ver 1.0

Table 7: Emerging Direction of Travel
Emerging Direction 
of Travel

Current core use Future core use Proposed additional facilities

Cockermouth Rugby 
Club

Rugby Union
Rugby League
Football (Senior)
Archery
Tennis (limited due to poor 
condition of floodlit courts)

Rugby Union
Rugby League*
Football (Senior)
Archery
Multi-Sports coaching and training 
(Basketball, Tennis, Football, Rugby, Netball, 
Hockey)

Development of multi-sport surface for coaching 
and training purposes on existing location of tennis 
courts 

Tarn Close Football (Junior) Football (Junior) with the potential to 
develop senior football if required

Changing and toilet facilities

Improved quality grass pitches

3G pitch facilities
Highfield Football

Rugby League (occasional)
Squash

Football
Rugby League & Hockey

Potential development of Cockermouth Titans 
ARFC home using Squash Club building and 
retaining a minimum of 1 squash court, providing a 
social base for Keswick Hockey Club and 
developing other facilities

Harris Park (Upper 
levels) – Tennis

Tennis Tennis Upgrade of Tennis Courts to include floodlights to 
replace those at the Rugby Club

Cockermouth Cricket 
Club

Cricket Cricket Women and Girls Changing Facilities

Fairfield Primary 
School Recreation 
Field

School use and 
Informal community use

School use and 
community use by Athletics based clubs

The school are planning to bid for education 
funding to upgrade these facilities to create a small 
changing pavilion on site. Where possible ABC 
should look to support this for development of 
community use by athletic based clubs

P
age 138



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 41 Final Report Ver 1.0

Emerging Direction 
of Travel

Current core use Future core use Proposed additional facilities

Wakefield Road 
Football Pitch

Football (Senior) Football (Senior) None

Cockermouth 
Secondary School

Hockey
Football (Senior and Junior)

Hockey
Football (Senior and Junior)

None (unless displacement of football from 
elsewhere in the future)

P
age 139



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 42 Final Report Ver 1.0

5.13 Funding Appraisal

5.13.1 As part of the emerging direction of travel and as identified with the study brief there is a need to identify external funding 
opportunities that could be available to ABC. Table 8 provides a summary funding appraisal of each potential funding source and the 
amount of available funding:

Table 8: Potential Funding Sources
Funding Body Value of Funding What do they fund Who can apply

Awards for All
Big Lottery

£300- £10,000 Improve spaces and places that matter to communities VCS
Schools
Statutory bodies

Cash 4 Clubs £500- £1,000 Sports Clubs to fund new equipment, improving facilities or 
providing training for coaches

Sports Clubs

Football Foundation 
– Premier League & 
FA Facilities Fund 
Small Grants Scheme

£1,000- £10,000 Funding is available for the provision of capital items, or to 
refurbish/improve existing football facilities in England

Grass roots football clubs
Local authorities
Educational establishments

Football Foundation 
– Premier League & 
FA Facilities Fund 

£10,000 - £500,000 Funding is available to support the development of new or 
refurbished local football facilities, such as changing pavilions 
and playing surfaces, for the benefit of communities in 
England

Football Clubs
Multi sport clubs
Local authorities
Educational establishments
Registered charities
Not for profit Companies ltd by 
guarantee
IPS

Lawn Tennis 
Association

Unknown

Transforming Tennis Fund 
50% funding grant, 50% loan

Grants priorities:

 Floodlights.
 Covered courts 
 Social facilities 

Applicants must be a partnership of 
organisations with a commitment 
to improving tennis in their area. 
These networks do not need to be 
formally recognised organisations 

P
age 140



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 43 Final Report Ver 1.0

Funding Body Value of Funding What do they fund Who can apply

 Multi-sports surfaces suitable for tennis.

Accessible facilities that cater for disabled players.

Tennis facilities at multi-sport venues, whether indoor or 
outdoor.

Creative ideas on how existing facilities can be altered to 
support Community Tennis Networks

but must be composed of two or 
more partners that are working 
together to develop and deliver a 
shared plan to grow Tennis 
participation in their local 
community

Organisations can include clubs, 
schools and local authorities

One Stop Carriers for 
Causes Grants

(nearest store Main 
Street, 
Cockermouth)

Max. £2,000 Improve health and wellbeing
Improving lives of young people
Protecting or improving the local environment.

Grants are available to local non-
profit organisations and groups for 
projects within two miles of a One 
Stop store.
Registered charities
Schools
Sports Clubs
Parish/Town Councils
Local authorities

Playing Fields Legacy 
Fund

Max. £10,000 
Fund currently closed

Funder currently reviewing future direction

Postcode 
Community Trust – 
Community Grants

£500-£20,000 In 2018, with funding from the players of the People’s 
Postcode Lottery, the Trust is able to offer short-term, 
designated funding for projects which improve health and 
wellbeing through: 

Grassroots sports, arts and recreation projects that improve 
health and wellbeing.

Companies limited by guarantee 
with a non-profit purpose.

Constituted voluntary organisation 
with no charity number.

Community Interest Company with 
no charity number.

Constituted sports group with no 
charity number

P
age 141



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 44 Final Report Ver 1.0

Funding Body Value of Funding What do they fund Who can apply

Organisations with registered 
charity number

Rugby Football 
Foundation – 
Groundmatch Grants

£1,500-£5,000

50% match funding

Pitch facilities

Clubhouse facilities

Equipment

Rugby Clubs

Rugby Football 
Foundation – 
Helping Hand  Grant

£500-£1,500 Pitches (land purchase, pitch construction, drainage and 
levelling).

Clubhouses (all areas apart from bars).

Floodlights.

Equipment which supports the playing of the game (grounds 
maintenance, goalposts and perimeter fencing).

Rugby Clubs

Sport England – 
Community Asset 
Fund

£1,000 - £150,000

Small Scale Investments – 
Typically ranging between 
£1,000 and £15,000.

Medium Scale Investments 
– Typically ranging between 
£15,000 and £50,000.

Large Scale Investments – 
Typically ranging between 
£50,000 and £150,000

The funding is available as: 

 Small Scale Investments – to cover the cost of 
emergency works due to something like storm or 
flood damage, or something totally unexpected that 
is stopping people from being able to stay active 
right now.

 Medium Scale Investments – to make more 
substantial changes. This might be an upgrade to an 
existing facility or developing a new space in the 
community.

 Large Scale Investments – for projects which can 
demonstrate a considerable impact or are targeting 
under-represented groups. (To be eligible for 
funding applicants must not have received funding 
from Sport England previously.)

Community organisations and clubs

Statutory bodies

Educational establishments

P
age 142



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 45 Final Report Ver 1.0

5.14 Summary

5.14.1 This section has considered in detail all the sites within study scope and their existing 
facilities and has identified any current issues faced along with the need and potential for 
developing future facilities. This section has also considered any potential sources of 
funding for any facility improvements or new facilities required. 

Page 143



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 46 Final Report Ver 1.0

6 RECOMMENDATIONS AND NEXT STEPS

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 This section provides recommendations based on the findings of the scoping study and 
takes into account the outcomes of the site assessments, consultation with both sports 
clubs and organisations and the emerging direction of travel outlined earlier in this report to 
make clear and concise recommendations on the way forward for the sports facilities in 
Cockermouth within the scope of this study. 

6.1.2 It also looks to outline the next steps in relation to the recommendations made and show 
the actions required to carry these out.

6.2 Recommendations

Recommendation 1

6.2.1 That the following recommendations are delivered in line with the priorities and timescales 
identified within the Action Plan:

Recommendation 2

Highfield Recreation Ground

That Highfield Recreation Ground is developed with the Titans Rugby League Club as a key 
partner as well as other sporting groups who could be accommodated on the site. This 
would involve an appropriate lease agreement for use of the old squash club building as 
well as the pitch area to develop multi-sport use on site. The multi-sport use would 
incorporate a home for Titans Rugby League Club, a base for Highfield Football Club, 
community squash use and a social base for Keswick Hockey Club who currently play their 
home games at Cockermouth School but are nomadic in terms of social facilities after 
games.   

Recommendation 3

Tarn Close

That Cockermouth Junior Football Club is supported in its ambitions to develop the facilities 
at Tarn Close and to initially provide changing and toilet facilities; to then improve the 
quality of its grass pitches and finally to secure funding for the addition of 3G artificial pitch 
training provision if demand for all weather training couldn’t be met through 
recommendation 4 and the project met the demand criteria of the FA. 

Recommendation 4 

Cockermouth RUFC

Page 144



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 47 Final Report Ver 1.0

That Cockermouth RUFC is supported in its development plans to improve their facilities as 
a multi-sport venue. This would entail improving the quality of its grass pitches both for its 
1st team Rugby and Cockermouth Senior Football Club’s pitch and in terms of developing 
the quality of the other pitches and the upgrading of the existing floodlit tennis courts into a 
floodlit multi-sports surface suitable for a range of sports. Reviewing the current 
governance structure (particularly in relation to the Grassmoor Sports Centre) and 
establishing service level agreements between Cockermouth RUFC and the key current 
users of the club facilities and future club use by other sports would have to be in place 
before any funding is committed from external sources. 

Recommendation 5

Harris Park Tennis Courts

That Harris Park tennis courts are upgraded and floodlighting considered to allow for future 
tennis use by Cockermouth Tennis Club and the local community and to compensate for the 
loss of the 3 tennis courts at Cockermouth Rugby Union Football Club. Commit to initiating 
an appropriate management process. 

Recommendation 6 

Fairfield Primary School Recreation Field 

That the development of a small changing pavilion on site by the school is supported where 
possible as this would support the development of use by the local athletic based clubs, 
offering a meeting place for activity which is currently ad hoc around the town centre and 
not always fit for purpose. If needs of these clubs cannot met by recommendations 2 and 4.

Recommendation 7

Cockermouth Cricket Club

6.2.2 That Cockermouth Cricket Club are supported in their ambition to develop their women and 
girls offer by developing appropriate changing facilities within their clubhouse facilities.

6.3 Next Steps

6.3.1 In order to deliver these recommendations, timescales for potential delivery need to be 
identified and then put into priority order. This has been completed and the following 
action plan produced based on Sport England guidance documents in relation to the 
production of Playing Pitch and Indoor Facility Strategies. The action plan below in Table 9 
provides timescales for delivery in relation to identified priorities. 

Page 145



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 48 Final Report Ver 1.0

Table 9: Action Plan
Action Plan Current core use Future core use Proposed additional facilities Priority (High 1-2 

years/Medium 3-5 
years/Low 5-7 years)

Highfield Football
Rugby League (occasional)
Squash

Football
Rugby League
Hockey (Social)
Squash
Multi Sport

Potential development of Cockermouth 
Titans ARFC home using Squash Club building 
and retaining a minimum of 1 squash court, 
providing a social base for Keswick Hockey 
Club and developing other facilities for multi 
sporting use

High (Initial works to 
make safe and ready for 
changing room and social 
use)
Medium (for 
development of final 
plans)

Tarn Close Football (Junior) Football (Junior) with the 
potential to develop senior 
football if required

Changing and toilet facilities

Improved quality grass pitches

3G pitch facilities

High

Medium

Low
Cockermouth Rugby 
Club

Rugby Union
Rugby League
Football (Senior)
Archery
Tennis (limited due to 
poor condition of floodlit 
courts)

Rugby Union
Rugby League*
Football (Senior)
Archery
Multi-Sports coaching and 
training (Basketball, 
Tennis, Football, Rugby, 
Netball, Hockey)

Development of multi-sport surface for 
coaching and training purposes on existing 
location of tennis courts 

Support in improving the quality of the 
current grass pitches on the site:
football pitch 

Rugby pitches

High

Medium

Low
Harris Park (Upper 
levels) – Tennis

Tennis Tennis Upgrade of Tennis Courts to include 
floodlights to replace those at the Rugby Club

High

Cockermouth Cricket 
Club

Cricket Cricket Women and Girls Changing Facilities Medium

P
age 146



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 49 Final Report Ver 1.0

Action Plan Current core use Future core use Proposed additional facilities Priority (High 1-2 
years/Medium 3-5 
years/Low 5-7 years)

Fairfield Primary 
School Recreation 
Field

School use and 
Informal community use

School use and 
community use by 
Athletics based clubs

The school are planning to bid for education 
funding to upgrade these facilities to create a 
small changing pavilion on site. 

Medium

Wakefield Road 
Football Pitch

Football (Senior) Football (Senior) None N/A

Cockermouth 
Secondary School

Hockey
Football (Senior and 
Junior)
School Sports

Hockey
Football (Senior and 
Junior)
School Sports

None (unless displacement of football from 
elsewhere in the future)

N/A

P
age 147



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 50 Final Report Ver 1.0

APPENDICES

Page 148



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 51 Final Report Ver 1.0

7 APPENDIX 1: ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY ACTION PLAN

Site

ID

Site Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Lead 
partners

Site 
hierarchy 

tier

Timescales Objective 
link

7 Cockermouth 
Cricket Club

Cricket Club One good quality cricket pitch with grass and 
synthetic wickets. Pitch currently played to capacity 
and club expresses latent demand for two junior 
teams.

Work with the Club to 
accommodate latent demand for 
two junior teams. Explore use of 
Dovenby Hall.

ECB Club S h

Football Three adult and two youth (9v9) good quality 
football pitches with community use (Cockermouth 
Jnrs) but spare capacity at peak times. 

Service level agreement now in place to resolve 
access issues and secure use.

Explore opportunity to increase use 
and to accommodate latent 
demand expressed by Rons Boys 
FC.

FA c, h

Cricket One standard quality cricket pitch with synthetic 
wicket only that is available for community use but 
currently unused.

Promote use to accommodate 
latent demand from Cockermouth 
Cricket Club.

ECB c, h

Rugby 
union

Three poor quality rugby union pitches, available but 
unused due to quality.

Potential spare capacity to reduce 
overplay at Grassmoor Sports 
Centre albeit quality needs to be 
improved.

RFU

8 Cockermouth 
School

Hockey

School

One standard quality full size floodlit sand filled AGP. 
Minimal spare capacity.

Holes/rips in the carpet and damage to the surface. 
As a result of these issues and in order to sustain 
hockey use in the future, England Hockey is currently 
advising and supporting Cockermouth School to 
submit a Sport England, Inspired Facilities bid to 
resurface the school pitch.

Support the School and club in its 
funding bid and seek to maximise 
secured usage of the AGP for 
hockey.

EH

Education S – L 

c, f

28 Broughton 
Red Rose 
ARLFC

Rugby 
league

Club One poor quality senior rugby league pitch that is 
overplayed by 1.5 sessions a week.

Improve the quality of pitch to 
accommodate more play. 
Alternatively use other pitches in 
area (Grassmoor Sports Centre) 
that express spare capacity.

Club

Borough 
Council

Club M d, h

29 Broughton 
Recreation 
Ground

Football Parish Council One standard quality football pitch that is unused 
and therefore available at peak times. 

Retain as reserve and promote site 
availability to accommodate local 
demand if required.

Parish 
Council

Reserve S e

P
age 149



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 52 Final Report Ver 1.0

Site

ID

Site Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Lead 
partners

Site 
hierarchy 

tier

Timescales Objective 
link

Cricket One poor quality cricket pitch with five grass wickets 
and spare capacity. No changing facilities and under-
sized outfield. 

Retain current usage and apply 
appropriate levels of maintenance 
to help improve quality.

Not ideally located to meet demand 
identified in the Area.

M – L d, h

Site

ID

Site Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Lead 
partners

Site 
hierarchy 

tier

Timescales Objective 
link

Rugby 
union

Home ground to Cockermouth RFC. Two senior and 
three mini rugby union pitches of poor quality due to 
very poor drainage. Pitches are considered to be 
overplayed due to all year round use.

The Club report a basic maintenance programme.

Club also expresses potential demand to increase 
teams in the future. 

Seek options to improve pitch 
quality as a priority in the medium 
term and address floodlighting in 
the longer term. 

Future demand can be 
accommodate if quality is 
improved. 

RFU M – L 

Football One standard quality adult football pitch and has 
spare capacity at peak times during the winter. 
Home ground to Cockermouth FC.

Spare capacity retained to protect 
quality. Retain current usage.

FA S

Rugby 
league

Pitches used by Cockermouth Titans RLFC resulting in 
additional wear and tear and all year round use.

Apply appropriate levels of 
maintenance to help improve 
quality.

Club S

All sports Potential funding opportunity in the Area. Across all sports, explore potential 
funding to improve pitch 
quality/drainage.

Clubs, FA, 
RFU

S-M

30 Grassmoor 
Sports Centre

Tennis Poor quality tennis courts (including floodlights being 
out of use) hired by Cockermouth Tennis Club. 
Courts are multi-use with multiple line markings and, 
therefore, are unable to be used for certain level of 
LTA competitions.

Investigate the feasibility of 
attracting funding to improve 
courts. If not feasible, explore 
options to relocate to Harris Park.

LTA

Key Centre

S

d, f, h, e

40 Highfield Football Borough 
Council

One standard quality adult football pitch that is used 
by community but has spare capacity at peak times.

Continue to maintain pitch and 
retain current play.

Borough 
Council

Club S – L c

P
age 150



Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 53 Final Report Ver 1.0

Site

ID

Site Sport Management Current status Recommended actions Lead 
partners

Site 
hierarchy 

tier

Timescales Objective 
link

Football53 Tarn Close

Athletics

Town Council Two standard quality youth football pitches with 
spare capacity at peak times. Can be used for a 
variety of formats. Main user is Cockermouth Jnrs.

Pitches located in centre of old cinder running track.

Work with the Town Council in 
partnership with local sports clubs 
in order to secure the site’s long 
term future for sport. 

Town 
Council

FA

Club S – L a, b, c

203 Harris Park Tennis Council Two standard quality tennis courts (no floodlighting) 
with room for potential expansion.

Investigate the feasibility of 
attracting funding to upgrade the 
courts to accommodate 
Cockermouth Tennis Club if 
relocated from Grassmoor Sports 
Centre. 

Council

LTA

Key Centre M d, f

143 Wakefield 
Road

Football Council One standard quality football pitch recently brought 
back into commission for use by Deer Orchard FC. 
Site is prone to flooding.

Apply appropriate levels of 
maintenance to help improve 
quality.

Consider site for a long-term lease 
to the Club. 

Council

FA

Club M b, e

P
age 151



Appendix 4 – Standard Terms and 
ConditionsError! No text of specified style in 
document.. Error! No text of specified style in 
document.

Allerdale Borough Council
Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study 54 Final Report Ver 1.0

Page 152



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 17 October 2018

Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Policy

The Reason for the Decision To ensure that the Council has in place a Self-
Build and Custom Housebuilding (SBCB) Policy 
and details of how it will administer the Self-Build 
and Custom Housebuilding register.

Summary of options considered This is a new policy and the Council needs to 
decide whether it wishes to:

1. Introduce a new policy with local connection 
and financial viability tests for inclusion in part 1 
of the Council’s Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding register.

2. Do nothing and continue to maintain a register 
that does not give precedence to local 
households.

Recommendations 1. The Council supports the introduction of a 
new SBCB policy with local connection and 
financial viability tests, and ensures that 
local households are given preference and 
assistance to self-build

2. The policy is reviewed after 12 months to 
enable the Council to understand the 
impact and benefits of the local connection 
test and the demand from outside of the 
area

3. The Executive is asked to approve the 
adoption of the new policy and the 
introduction of a grant funding programme 
as detailed in this report. 

Financial /  Resource Implications The funding received from Central Government is 
being utilised to administer the Self-build and 
Custom Housebuilding register.  There are 
currently two part-time officers employed to 
support the work of this programme.

Legal / Governance Implications The Self-build and Customer House Building Act 
2015 placed a duty on the Council to maintain a 
register.

Page 153

Agenda Item 8



Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

EIA completed September 2018

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Supporting the housing needs of local people by 
improving access to self-build housing, and thus 
creating sustainable communities.  This policy will 
support the Council’s Priority for Strengthening 
our economy through supporting the development 
of more homes where they are needed and 
includes assisting those with aspirational housing 
needs.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith, Portfolio Holder for 
Strategy, Policy and Performance and Carni 
McCarron Holmes, Portfolio Holder for Housing 
and Health

Lead Officer Andrea Smith, Policy Manager (Housing)

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Financial Y

Legal Y

Background papers ………………………………………………………………………………

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This is a new policy, which seeks to introduce a local connection test and 
financial viability test against a person’s ability to be able to purchase land and 
take forward a self-build development within the self-build custom house building 
programme.

2.0 Content (to include alternative options considered) 

2.1  Custom Housebuilding and Self-Build are terms used interchangeably.  Custom 
housebuilding is when a person commissions a specialist developer to help to 
deliver their own home, while Self Build is where a person is more directly 
involved in organising and constructing their home.

2.2 The aim of the policy is to recognise the statutory requirement of the Council, and 

Page 154



to support ambitious households wishing to build their home in Allerdale, creating 
high quality, value for money housing that helps increase diversity in the market.  

2.3 This programme is supported, by Self Build Custom Housebuilding officers who 
manage the Council’s register and can provide interested parties and groups on 
part 1 of the register with advice and support on land and serviced plots that may 
be available for development.

2.4 In March 2015, the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 was enacted 
by Parliament. This Act placed a duty on local authorities to keep a register of 
individuals, and associations of individuals, who wish to acquire serviced plots of 
land, to bring forward self-build and custom housebuilding projects, and placed a 
duty on those authorities to have regard to those registers in carrying out 
planning and other functions.

2.5 On 1st April 2016, the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding (Register     
Regulations 2016 came into force. These  regulations introduced definitions of a 
serviced plot of land, registers kept under the Act and exemption from the duty.

2.6 On 31 October 2016, two further sets of regulations came into force, the        
Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for Compliance and Fees) 
Regulations 2016 and the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 
2016.

2.7 These regulations also introduced the ability for local authorities to charge a fee 
for applications to the Register to cover reasonable costs incurred in maintaining 
the Register and delivering permissions for serviced plots to meet the demand on 
the Register.

2.8 In order to enable local authorities to implement the Register, and its subsequent 
requirements for planning permission of serviced plots, the Government has 
granted local authorities New Burdens funding. An initial one-off payment of 
£5,850 was made in 2016 to help authorities establish their Registers, and the 
Government has now committed to give each local authority with a Register a 
further £90,000 over the period 2016-2020 as set out in the table below.

   
 Year Amount 
2016/17 £15,000
2017/18 £30,000
2018/19 £30,000
2019/20 £15,000
Total £90,000

2.9 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016 (the second set that 
came into force on 31st October) updated how a local authority might assess 
eligibility for entry on the Register, introducing the option of local eligibility criteria 
that a local authority might set that could include a local connection test and/or 
criteria that demonstrate whether an applicant has sufficient resources to 
undertake a self or custom build project. The Regulations also introduced the 
idea of a Part 1 and Part 2 of the Register to distinguish between applicants with 

Page 155



and without a local connection. The Regulations do not require the Council to 
ensure planning permission is granted for sufficient serviced plots to meet the 
demand on Part 2 of the Register (i.e. that is only required for the demand 
evidenced by Part 1).

2.10 To assist the Council in supporting this programme and managing both the 
funding and register, two part time officers have been appointed to drive forward 
self-build custom housebuilding in Allerdale.  A programme has been developed 
which will support the delivery of SBCB. This will include the introduction of a 
small grants programme, we will host two events between now and March 2020 
and administer the register.

2.11 The funding will also be utilised for research and intelligence work, promoting 
and marketing SBCB, training and events and a small contingency fund is 
included.

2.12 The Council needs to ensure that it continues to maintain the SBCB register   
beyond 2020 and that the introduction of fees and charges will contribute to the 
on costs of managing this service once the new burdens funding ends.  

2.13 Small Grants

As part of the SBCB funding, our aim is to offer small grants to households on 
part one of the register to assist them with obtaining advice and financial support 
for gaining planning permission and building control services.  It is estimated that 
a small grant of up-to a maximum of £1,800 will be available.  This funding will 
come from £20K of the grant that the Council has received from new burdens 
funding.  This will also provide an opportunity for the funding to be recycled back 
into the Council’s planning and building control services, along with an 
administration fee to cover the cost of administering the grant.

The purpose of levying a charge for this service and a fee for administering grant 
applications is to ensure that there is the ability contribute towards managing the 
service in the future.

3.0 Proposed Policy

3.1 The new policy set out three key areas that support the Local Authority to meet 
its legislative requirements

 Local connection test

 Financial viability assessment

 Charging fee

The policy also sets out the introduction of a small grants fund of £20k from new 
burdens funding received up to 2020.

Full details of the policy are set out in appendix A. 

3.2 The Procedure sets out how the Council will manage Self-Build Custom 
Housebuilding enquiries and the eligibility criteria to determine whether an 
individual qualifies for entry on to part 1 or part 2 of the SBCB register.  Full 
details of this are set out in appendix B

Page 156



3.3 The aim is to introduce a new charging policy in line with Government 
regulations, which provides the local authority the ability to charge a fee for 
applications to the Register to cover reasonable costs incurred by the local 
authorities in maintaining the Register and in delivering permissions for services 
plots to meet the need and demand on the Register.  The proposed introduction 
is also in line with the Council’s fees and charges policy.  Full details of the Self-
Build and Custom Housebuilding Charges are attached in appendix C.

4.0 Recommendations

1. The Council supports the introduction of a new SBCB policy with local connection 
and financial viability tests, and ensures that local households are given 
preference and assistance to self-build

2. The policy is reviewed after 12 months to enable the Council to understand the 
impact and benefits of the local connection test and the demand from outside of 
the area

3. The Executive is asked to approve the adoption of the new policy and the 
introduction of a grant funding programme as detailed in this report. 

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 This new policy seeks to manage a register as set out in the legislation and that 
the Council has an agreed approach in which to manage applications beyond the 
funding timeframe.  

Andrea Smith, Policy Manager (Housing)

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 158



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy – V1.0

Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Register Policy

- October  2018

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 159



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy – V1.0

Document title Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy

Document author Vivien Steadman, Research, Performance and 
Intelligence Officer (Housing)

Who is accountable for 
this policy/strategy? Andrea Smith, Policy Manager (Housing)

Current version no. V1.0
Effective from date
Approval body Executive
Approval date
Review frequency One year
Next review due October 2019
Is the document 
confidential? No

Revision History

Date Version Summary of Changes   
Keep VERY brief Section(s) Changed

October 2018 1.0 New policy

Equalities Impact Assessment This must be done each time a policy/strategy is 
fundamentally revised

Assessment date October  2018

Assessment 
location

This is a new policy, which seeks to introduce a local 
connection test, financial viability assessment and a 
registration fee.

Page 160



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy – V1.0

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The draft Allerdale Borough Council Local part 2, policy SA4 details the 
council’s policy towards Self-build and Custom Build housing.

1.2 This policy describes how the Council will manage the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding register.

1.3 The Allerdale Borough Council register does not cover the Lake District 
National Park, which has its own register.   

1.4 This policy is being introduced following the introduction of the Self-build and 
Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, and sets out three key areas that support 
Local Authorities to meet its legislative requirements

 Local connection test
 Financial viability assessment
 Charging fee

2.0 Legislative and national policy context

2.1  In March 2015, the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 was 
enacted by Parliament. This Act placed a duty on local authorities to keep a 
register of individuals, and associations of individuals, who wish to acquire 
serviced plots of land, to bring forward self-build and custom housebuilding 
projects and to place a duty on those authorities to have regard to those 
registers in carrying out planning and other functions. 

2.2 On 1st April 2016, the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding (Register) 
Regulations 2016 came into force. These   regulations introduced definitions of 
a serviced plot of land, registers kept under the Act and exemption from the 
duty. 

2.3 Through these Regulations, the Council was required to publicise the ability for 
individuals and associations to apply for entry on the Register, and the 
Regulations and subsequent national planning practice guidance set out what 
eligibility criteria the Council could use to assess those applications. 

2.4 On 31 October 2016, two further sets of regulations came into force, the Self-
Build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for Compliance and Fees) Regulations 
2016 and the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016. 

2.5 The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for Compliance and Fees) 
Regulations 2016 placed a requirement on local authorities to grant sufficient 
planning permissions for serviced plots of land for self and custom-build to 
meet the demand evidenced by their Register, specifically to have granted 
these permissions within 3 years of a given base date. 

Page 161



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy – V1.0

2.6 These regulations also introduced the ability for local authorities to charge a fee 
for applications to the Register to cover reasonable costs incurred by a local 
authority in maintaining the Register and in delivering permissions for serviced 
plots to meet the demand on the Register. 

 
2.7 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016 (the second set 

that came into force on 31st October) updated how a local authority might 
assess eligibility for entry on the Register, introducing the option of local 
eligibility criteria that a local authority might set that could include a local 
connection test and/or criteria that demonstrate whether an applicant has 
sufficient resources to undertake a self or custom build project. The 
Regulations also introduced the idea of a Part 1 and Part 2 of the Register to 
distinguish between applicants with and without a local connection. The 
Regulations do not require the Council to ensure planning permission is 
granted for sufficient serviced plots to meet the demand on Part 2 of the 
Register (i.e. that is only required for the demand evidenced by Part 1).

3.0 Local policy context

3.1 The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) adopted in July 2014 sets out the strategic 
context for the Allerdale Plan Area and will be complemented by Part 2: Site 
Allocations Document, to be prepared in line with the timescales set in the 
Local Development Scheme.

3.2 The Local Plan (Part 1) contains strategic objectives designed to help in the 
creation of mixed and balanced housing markets.

3.2.1 Strategic Objective SO2a of the Local Plan is to “Enable a balanced 
housing market that delivers a mix of housing type and tenure to meet the 
needs of all communities.”

3.2.2 Strategic Objective SO2c of the Local Plan is to “Ensure a deliverable 
supply of housing land that meets the needs of the community and 
local economy”.

3.3 The Local Plan (Part 2) is at an advanced state of consultation and in the 
document, the Council supports self-build and custom housebuilding.

3.4 The National Planning Policy Framework set out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. Paragraph 50 
means that local authorities must “…deliver a wide choice of high quality 
homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, 
inclusive and mixed communities…”

3.5 The Council plan identifies the Council’s key priorities between 2015-2019. One 
of the priorities is ‘Strengthening our economy’, which includes supporting the 
development of aspirational housing where appropriate.

Page 162



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy – V1.0

3.6 The 2016 Housing Study acts as an evidence base. It identified 152 households 
planning to move in the next five years who would be interested in self-build, of 
these 70 households expected to move into a self-build property1.  

4.0 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Definition

4.1 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding provides an opportunity for individuals or 
groups of individuals who want to design and build their own homes as an 
alternative to that offered by volume housebuilders of existing housing stock.

4.2 Self-build is where a person is directly involved in organising and constructing 
their home. Custom housebuilding is where a person commissions a specialist 
developer to help to deliver their own home.

5.0 Scope of the Policy

5.1 Section 4 of The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016 states 
that:

An individual is eligible for entry in Part 1 of the register if that individual— 

(a)is aged 18 or over;

(b)is a British citizen, a national of an EEA State other than the United 
Kingdom, or a national of Switzerland;

(c)satisfies any conditions set by the relevant authority under regulation 52;

(d)has paid any fee required by the relevant authority to be paid to be entered 
in or to remain on the register; and
(e)is seeking (either alone or with others) to acquire a serviced plot of land in 
the relevant authority’s area for their own self-build and custom housebuilding.

Households which meet all the conditions above will be placed on part 1 of the 
Register. Households who meet all the conditions above, excluding part (c) will be 
placed on part 2 of the Register. Households who do not meet parts (a), (b), (d) or 
(e) will not be placed on the Register.

This policy will direct the three key areas which the legislation enables councils to 
set, as follows:

5.1.1 Local Connection test

The applicant must meet one of the following requirements:

- Resident in Allerdale for at least 12 months

1 Part 4.50 of the Allerdale 2016 Housing Study
2 Regulation 5 of the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016 allows authorities to set 
additional criteria for eligibility

Page 163



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy – V1.0

- No longer residing in Allerdale but was a resident for at least one of the 
last three years

- Family association with an existing resident of at least 12 months 
residence in Allerdale. Family association is defined as spouse, civil 
partner, parent, children and siblings. We will also allow family 
associations through marriage e.g. step parents, children and siblings.

- Permanent employment in Allerdale or acceptance of the offer of 
employment

5.1.2 The 2016 regulations also specify that any person in the service of the 
regular armed forces of the Crown is deemed to satisfy the local connection 
test whilst in service, and for a period after leaving the service equal to the 
longest of any periods required by the local connection test. This would 
support the Cumbria Armed Forces and Community Covenant, of which 
Allerdale Borough Council is a partner.

5.2 Financial Viability test

5.2.1 The applicant meets the financial viability assessment where they   
provide written evidence of sufficient resources to purchase land.

5.3 Charging Fees

5.3.1 Consistent with the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for 
Compliance and Fees) Regulations 2016 Regulation 33, Allerdale Borough 
Council have set fees which must be paid in order for a person to be entered 
on the Allerdale Borough Council Self-build and Custom Housebuilding 
register.

5.3.2 The current fees and details of how they are calculated are set out in 
the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Charges document.

5.3.3 The relevant fee is payable within the Council’s standard payment term 
of 28 days of an applicant being notified that their application to join the 
Allerdale Borough Council Self-build and Custom Housebuilding register has 
been successful. If payment is not made within 28 days the individual will not 
be entered on the register. 

5.3.4 Individuals who did not pay and who were not entered on the register 
will be required to pay a fee prior any subsequent application being assessed. 
This fee will be the same as the fee to enter part 2 of the register. If the 
applicant is found to be eligible for part 1 of the register they will be notified 
and must pay the difference within 28 days of this notification.

3 Regulation 3 allows authorities to charge fees to recover their reasonable costs of entering a person on the 
register, permitting a person to remain on the register, and complying with the duty in section 2A, which places a 
duty on local authorities to give suitable development permission in respect of enough serviced plots of land to 
meet the demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in the authority's area arising in each base period.

Page 164



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy – V1.0

5.3.5 Allerdale Borough Council reserves the right to refuse subsequent 
applications in cases where the fee for a previous application has not been 
paid.

5.3.6 Where an application is from an association of individuals, each 
member of the association who will be building a property must provide the 
evidence required to enter the register and pay the relevant fee.

5.3.7 Fees will increase annually in line with inflation.

6.0 Monitoring the Register

6.1 An annual fee, along with an updated registration form to confirm continued 
eligibility, will be required to be submitted by 30 October each year from new 
applicants and existing members of the register. Each September the Council 
will send a registration form to all those who are currently on the register. The 
annual fee is specified in the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Charges 
document.    
 

6.2 New applications to the register can be made at any time throughout the year, 
Applicants who entered the register before 1 September each year will be 
required to re-register and pay a further registration fee by 30 October in order 
to remain on the register.

6.3 Individuals or associations entered on the register may apply to amend their 
entry. Applications for amendments should be submitted in writing by the 
individual. 

6.4 The Council will remove an entry from the register upon receipt of a written 
request from the individual or, in the case of an association, the lead contact.

6.5 The Council may remove an entry from the register if it considers that the 
individual or, in the case of an association, any member of the association on 
the register is no longer eligible for entry on the register. Only the ineligible   
member of an association will be removed from the register.

6.6 Where it is decided to remove an entry from the register, the Council will notify 
the subject of the entry and give reasons for their decision.

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 166



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Procedure Document 2018

Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding 

Procedure Document 
October 2018

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 167



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Procedure Document 2018

This document explains the procedure Allerdale Borough Council will follow during 
the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding (SBCB) registration process and how the 
Council will assess applications to join the Council’s SBCB register.

Application Forms

Application forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, or can 
be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.

Completed forms and accompanying documents may be submitted by post to:

Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Officer
Strategy, Policy & Performance Team
Allerdale Borough Council
Allerdale House
Workington CA14 3YJ

Or by email to:

housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk

Application forms will be scanned and saved to an application folder. Each 
application will be given a unique reference number. An acknowledgement letter will 
be sent within 10 working days. 

Eligibility Criteria

Applications will be assessed against eligibility criteria to determine whether the 
individual qualifies for entry to part 1 of the SBCB register, part 2 of the SBCB 
register or does not qualify for entry to the SBCB register.

Part 1 is for applicants who meet the statutory requirements and the local connection 
and financial viability tests set by Allerdale Borough Council. The Council must grant 
sufficient planning permissions for serviced plots of land to meet the demand 
identified in part 1 of the register1. 

Part 2 is for applicants who meet the statutory requirements only. The Council has 
no duty under the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 to grant 
permissions for serviced plots to meet this need.

Applicants who cannot demonstrate that they meet the statutory requirements are 
not eligible to join the register.

The statutory requirements and local authority obligations that must be met are 
detailed in part 4 of the Council’s Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy 
available on the Council’s website.

1 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 
2016) requires authorities to count entries on part 1 of the register towards the number of suitable 
services plots that they must grant permission for. 

Page 168



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Procedure Document 2018

Statutory Requirements

Age and nationality will be verified using documentation provided by the applicant.

Local Connection

Residency, previous residency and family association and the length of residency in 
Allerdale will be verified by checking Council Tax records. Other evidence may be 
considered.

Households meeting the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed 
Forces) (England) Regulations 2012 will be exempt from the Local Connection test. 
Details of the Regulations are in part 4 of the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding 
policy.

Financial Viability
We will accept the following evidence:

 An offer for a self-build mortgage from a member of the Council of Mortgage 
Lenders, which clearly shows the release of funds for the purchase of land, or

 Written confirmation and evidence from a qualified financial advisor with 
active membership of a verifiable and appropriate professional body. This 
evidence should clearly outline that the applicant has sufficiently readily 
accessible funds/equity to purchase land, or

 Any other information which demonstrates, to the Council’s satisfaction, that 
the application has sufficient resources to purchase land for their own self-
build and custom housebuilding

Notification 

Applicants will be sent a letter within 10 working days of the acknowledgement letter 
confirming what part of the register they qualify for and requesting the appropriate 
payment. Fees are detailed in the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Charges 
document available on the Allerdale Borough Council website. The letter will contain 
details of the fee and how to pay it.

The fees payable spreadsheet will be updated showing the reference number and 
the amount due, this will allow reconciliation with payments made.

Appeals

Applicants who believe they have been wrongly placed on the register, or wrongly 
excluded from the register should submit an appeal within five working days to the 
Policy Manager (Housing). Appeals will only be accepted in writing and should be 
sent to either:

Policy Manager (Housing)
Strategy, Policy & Performance Team
Allerdale Borough Council

Page 169



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Procedure Document 2018

Allerdale House
Workington CA14 3YJ
 
Or by email to housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk

Appeals should make clear why the original assessment is incorrect and should 
contain evidence of any information provided.

Appeals will be acknowledged within five working days of receipt and will be 
assessed within a further five working days. Appellants will be advised of the result 
of their appeal by letter, and any change to the payment required. Additional 
payments must be received within 28 days of notification.

Payment Process

The notification letter will contain full details of how to pay, and will give each 
applicant a reference number.

When payment has been received, the applicants’ details will be placed on the 
appropriate part of the SBCB register. The Council will send a letter confirming 
receipt of the payment and the applicant’s place on the register, plus any additional 
information due to those on part 1 of the register. Hard copies of any evidence 
submitted by the applicant will be returned at this point, including the application 
form.

Non Payment

If payment has not been received within the Council’s standard payment term of 28 
days of the date of the notification letter or the date the applicant has been advised 
of an appeal decision, the household will not be placed on the register. The 
application form and documentation will be returned to the applicant. 

Individuals who did not pay for a previous application will be asked to pay to enter 
part 2 of the register before a new application is assessed. If the applicant is found to 
be eligible for part 1 of the register they will be notified and must pay the difference 
within 28 days of this notification. 

Additional Information

Households eligible for part 1 of the SBCB register will be sent additional information 
to help them identify suitable land. This will include:

 Contact details and the location of planning permissions granted for self-build 
developments and single plot permissions where  building has not yet started

 Details of funding opportunities available.

Renewal Letters

A letter requesting confirmation that circumstances have not changed and that the 
applicant wishes to remain on the register will be sent annually on 1 October.

Page 170



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Procedure Document 2018

If circumstances have changed, the application will be reviewed in line with the 
criteria detailed earlier in this document. The applicant will be advised if there are 
any changes to their entry on the SBCB register. 
 
The renewal fee, as detailed in the SBCB Charges document, must be received by 
the Council by 30 October in order for the applicant to remain on the register.

When payment has been received, the Council will send a letter confirming receipt of 
the payment and confirming the applicant’s place on the register for the forth-coming 
year.

Retention of Personal Information

Information will only be retained by the Council whilst it relates to an individual 
currently on the register. When an individual leaves the register all information 
relating to them will be deleted.

Statistics

Headline data from the register will be provided for inclusion in the Annual Monitoring 
Report, and will appear on the Council’s website. No information identifying those on 
the register will be shown.

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 172



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Charges Document 2018

Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Charges 

Document - 2018

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 173



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Charges Document 2018

Document title Self-build and Custom Housebuilding  Charges 
Document

Document author Vivien Steadman, Research, Performance and 
Intelligence Officer (Housing)

Who is accountable for 
this policy/strategy? Andrea Smith, Policy Manager (Housing)

Current version no. V1.0
Effective from date
Approval body Executive
Approval date
Review frequency Annually
Next review due August 2019
Is the document 
confidential? No

Revision History

Date Version Summary of Changes   
Keep VERY brief Section(s) Changed

July 2018 1.0 New document

Equalities Impact Assessment This must be done each time a policy/strategy is 
fundamentally revised

Assessment date
Assessment 
location

Page 174



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Charges Document 2018

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This document sets out the charges applied for entry to the Self-build and 
Custom Housebuilding Register.

2.0 LEGISLATIVE AND NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT

2.1  In March 2015, the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 was 
enacted by Parliament. This Act placed a duty on local authorities to keep a 
register of individuals, and associations of individuals, who wish to acquire 
serviced plots of land, to bring forward self-build and custom housebuilding 
projects and to place a duty on those authorities to have regard to those 
registers in carrying out planning and other functions. 

2.2 On 1st April 2016, the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding (Register) 
Regulations 2016 came into force. These implemented the requirement for 
local authorities to hold a register of individuals and associations who are 
seeking to acquire serviced plots of land in the authority’s area in order to build 
their own home (the Self Build and Custom Build Register, to be referred to as 
"the Register" in this report). 

2.3 On 31 October 2016, two further sets of regulations came into force, the Self-
Build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for Compliance and Fees) Regulations 
2016 and the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016. 

2.4 These regulations also introduced the ability for local authorities to charge a fee 
for applications to the Register to cover reasonable costs incurred by a local 
authority in maintaining the Register and in delivering permissions for serviced 
plots to meet the demand on the Register. 

2.5 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016 (the second set 
that came into force on 31st October) updated how a local authority might 
assess eligibility for entry on the Register, introducing the option of local 
eligibility criteria that a local authority might set that could include a local 
connection test and/or criteria that demonstrate whether an applicant has 
sufficient resources to undertake a self or custom build project. The 
Regulations also introduced the idea of a Part 1 and Part 2 of the Register to 
distinguish between applicants with and without a local connection. The 
Regulations do not require the Council to ensure planning permission is 
granted for sufficient serviced plots to meet the demand on Part 2 of the 
Register (i.e. that is only required for the demand evidenced by Part 1).

Page 175



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Charges Document 2018

3.0 LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT

3.1 The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) adopted in July 2014 sets out the strategic 
context for the Allerdale Plan Area and will be complemented by Part 2: Site 
Allocations Document, to be prepared in line with the timescales set in the 
Local Development Scheme.

3.2 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Policy states how Allerdale Borough 
Council will operate the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding register. The 
Self-build and Custom Housebuilding procedure document details how the 
Council will implement the policy.

3.3 The charges in this document are compliant with the Allerdale Borough Council 
Fees and Charges Policy.

4.0 CHARGES

4.1 Consistent with the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for Compliance 
and Fees) Regulations 2016 Regulation 3, Allerdale Borough Council have set 
the following fees which must be paid in order for a person to be entered on the 
Allerdale Borough Council Self-build and Custom Housebuilding register.

Individuals Associations
Entry to Part 1 of the register £50 £50 per person
Entry to Part 2 of the register £12 £12 per person
Annual renewal fee £11 £11 per person

4.2 The current fee for applying for entry to Part 1 of the register is calculated by:

Time spent administering an application and providing information = 4.4 hours
4.4 hours x Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Officer hourly rate = £50.07

4.3 The current fee for applying for entry to Part 2 of the register is calculated by:

Time spent administering an application = 1.1 hours
1.1 hours x Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Officer hourly rate = £12.52

4.4 The current annual renewal fee for those on Part 1 and Part 2 of the register 
is calculated by:

Time spent on annual renewal process = 1 hour
1 hour x Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Officer hourly rate = £11.38

4.5 Fees will increase annually in line with inflation. The inflationary measure 
used will be advised by the Council’s finance department at the time of the 
increase.

4.6 When fees, including inflation, have been calculated they will be rounded to 
the nearest whole £.

Page 176



Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Charges Document 2018

4.7 Applicants before 1 September will be required to pay the annual renewal fee 
by the 30 October in order to remain on the register. Those who join the 
register from 1 September to 30 October will be exempt from the annual 
renewal fee for one year.

5.0 PAYMENT PROCESS

5.1 The relevant fee is payable within 28 days of an applicant being notified that 
their application to join the Allerdale Borough Council Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding register has been successful. If payment is not made within 28 
days the individual or association will not be entered onto the register. 
Subsequent applications for re-entry onto the register must the relevant fee to 
enter part 2 of the register prior to the application being assessed. If the 
applicant is found to be eligible for part 1 of the register they must pay the 
difference within 28 days of being notified. Allerdale Borough Council reserves 
the right to refuse subsequent applications where the fee is not paid.

5.2 Where an application is from an association of individuals, each member of 
the association must pay the relevant fee.

5.3 The amount due will be advised in the letter sent to confirm entry to the 
Allerdale Borough Council Self-build and Custom Housebuilding register. 
Applicants will be given a reference number that must be used when they pay.

5.4 The following methods of payment will be accepted:

 Online bank transfer, the Council's bank details for receiving payment are:

 Barclays Bank Plc
 Sort Code: 20-18-62
 Account Number: 163155692

 Telephone payments by calling 0303 123 1702. An automated service is in use 
out of office hours.

6.0 MONITORING AND REVIEW

6.1 The entry cost for Parts 1 and 2 of the register and annual renewal fee will be 
reviewed each year.

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 178


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Award of Contract for Waste, Recycling, Street Cleansing and Grounds Maintenance Services
	181004 - CSBDM Executive Report (Part 1) Appendix 1 - Finance Tables Final
	181004 - CSBDM Executive Report (Part 1) Appendix 2 - Report of Community Services Task Finish Group Final
	181004 - CSBDM Executive Report (Part 1) Appendix 3 Equality Impact Assessment for recycling collections Final
	181004 - CSBDM Executive Report (Part 2) Final

	7 Cockermouth Sports Facilities Improvement
	Appendix A Cockermouth Sports Facilities Scoping Study Final Report

	8 Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Policy
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C


